
Final 
 
 

   
 

CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY MEETING AGENDA 
 

Wednesday, January 15, 2024 – 5:30 P.M. 
 

Public Meeting at: 
CARSON CITY COMMUNITY CENTER 

(Robert Crowell Board Room) 
851 E. William 

Carson City, Nevada 
This Agenda Prepared by Corey Jenkins, Airport Manager 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL, AND DETERMINATION OF QUORUM. 

 
B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
C. APPROVAL   OF THE   MINUTES   OF PAST   MEETINGS   OF THE AIRPORT 

AUTHORITY. 
 

D. MODIFICATION OF THE AGENDA.  The Chairman reserves the right to modify 
the agenda in order to most effectively process the agenda items. Items may be taken out 
of order; Items may be combined for consideration by the Authority; Items may be pulled 
or removed from the agenda at any time. 

 
E. PUBLIC COMMENT. Members of the public who wish to address the Airport 

Authority may speak on agendized and non-agendized matters related to the Airport. 
Comments are limited to three (3) minutes per person or topic. If your item requires 
extended discussion, please request the Chairman to calendar the matter for a future 
Airport Authority meeting. 

 
1. The public may provide public comment in advance of a meeting by written 

submission to the following email address: Manager@flycarsoncity.com. For 
inclusion or reference in the minutes of the meeting, your public comment must 
include your full name & address and be submitted via email by not later than 5:00 
p.m. the day before the meeting. The Carson City Airport Authority values your 
input.  Members of the public who wish to provide live public comment may do so 
during the designated public comment periods, indicated on the agenda in person. 

 
******************************************************************************* 

 
F. AIRPORT ENGINEER’S REPORT (Non-Action Item). 

 
G. CONSENT AGENDA 

 
H. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
 
 



Final 
 
 

   
 

1. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Consider bids received in 
response to the solicitation for a Fixed Base Operator (FBO) to manage Airport-
Owned Tie-Downs on the Northwest Ramp; Select and authorize FBO(s) for 
license agreement. (S. Tackes) 
 
Staff Summary: The Airport Manager notified all commercial service FBOs about 
the opportunity to enter into an agreement to manage the Airport-Owned Tie- 
Downs on the Northwest Ramp. Multiple responses were received from interested 
parties. Each appears to be qualified. The Airport Manager has brought this item 
to the Authority to select one or more of the FBOs, and for consideration of 
whether to reserve some tie downs for transient aircraft managed by the Airport 
Manager. The matter was continued from the November 20, 2024 Authority 
meeting. 
 

2. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Approval of a Through-The 
Fence (TTF) Permit for three access points for Carson Tahoe Executive 
Community, LLC Located at 3700 Barron Way, Suite 2, Reno, NV 89511. 
(S.Tackes, C. Jenkins) 
 
Staff Summary: Carson Tahoe Executive Community, LLC has applied for a TTF 
permit to establish three access points at their property located at APN 005-052-
01, APN 005-111-05, APN 005-111-06 AND APN005-111-08.  The applicant 
must adhere to the requirements outlined in the Carson City Municipal Code 
(CCMC) Title 19.  Recent changes to the code have specifically allowed for the 
establishment of an adjacent hangar association, under which this permit request 
falls.  The changes in CCMC Title 19 were intended to facilitate such community 
developments, ensuring they meet safety, operational, and community standards.   
 

I. AIRPORT MANAGER’S REPORT (Non-Action Item). 

J. LEGAL COUNSEL’S REPORT (Non-Action Item). 

K. TREASURER’S REPORT (Non-Action Item). 
 

L. REPORT FROM AUTHORITY MEMBERS (Non-Action Item). 
1. Status review of projects 
2. Internal communications and administrative matters 
3. Correspondence to the Authority 
4. Status reports and comments from the members of the Authority 

 
M. PUBLIC COMMENT.  Members of the public who wish to address the Airport 

Authority may speak about items discussed on the agenda related to the Airport. 
Comments are limited to three (3) minutes per person or topic.  If your item requires 
extended discussion, please request the Chairman to calendar the matter for a future 
Airport Authority meeting. 

 
N. AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT REGULAR MEETING (Non-Action Item). 



Final 
 
 

   
 

O. ACTION ON ADJOURNMENT. 

*     *     *     *    * 
 

DELIVERED (via E-Mail) to the FOLLOWING LOCATIONS for POSTING by 9am, January 10, 2024 
 

The Carson City Airport Website https://flycarsoncity.com/ 
State of Nevada Public Notice Website https://notice.nv.gov 
Airport Terminal Building 
 

2600 College Parkway 
Carson City, NV 

Mountain West Aviation 2101 Arrowhead Dr. 
Carson City, NV 

Stellar Aviation of Carson City, LLC 2640 College Parkway 
Carson City, NV 

~ Distribution made to others per request and as noted on the Airport Authority Distribution List ~ 
 

Supporting materials will be posted to the Carson City Airport website www.flycarsoncity.com as 
available, and can be obtained upon request from the Airport Manager, 2600 E. College Parkway #6, 
Carson City, NV 

 
NOTE:   The Airport Authority is pleased to make reasonable accommodations for the public who are 
disabled and wish to attend this meeting.  If special arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please notify the 
Airport Authority at (775) 841-2255 or cjenkins@flycarsoncity.com  

 
Notice: NRS 241.020(3)(b) states that a request for mailed notice of meetings automatically lapses six 
months after it is made to the public body.  A separate written request is not required for each meeting 
although requests are limited to six months at a time. 

 
 

THE CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY ENCOURAGES WRITTEN COMMENTS FROM THE 
PUBLIC. Comments should be addressed to the Airport Manager, and sent to the following address: 

 

Carson City Airport Authority 2600 E. College Parkway #6, Carson City, Nevada 89706 
 

https://flycarsoncity.com/
https://notice.nv.gov/
http://www.flycarsoncity.com/
mailto:cjenkins@flycarsoncity.com


DRAFT MINUTES 

Regular Meeting  

Carson City Airport Authority (CCAA) 

November 20, 2024 ⚫ 5:30 PM 

 Community Center Robert “Bob” Crowell Board Room 

851 East William Street, Carson City, Nevada    

  

 

  

 
 

 

 
Page 1 

 
  

      

       Authority Members 

 Chair – Tim Puliz   Vice Chair – Harlow Norvell 

 Treasurer – Jon Rogers  Member – Curtis Horton   

  Member – Michaela Flint  Member – Karl Hutter 

   Member – Michael Golden 

 

 

                                    Staff  

Steve Tackes – Airport Counsel 

Corey Jenkins – Airport Manager 

Briana Munoz – Public Meetings Clerk  

  

NOTE:  A recording of these proceedings, the Board’s agenda materials, and any written comments or 

documentation provided to the recording secretary during the meeting are public record.  These materials are on 

file in the Clerk-Recorder’s Office, and available for review during regular business hours. 

 

Audio recordings and the meeting minutes of the Carson City Airport Authority meetings are available on 

https://www.carson.org/government/city-meetings.  

 

A. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL, AND DETERMINATION OF QUORUM  

(5:32:20) – Chairperson Puliz called the meeting to order at 5:32 p.m. 

(5:32:40) – Roll was called, and a quorum was present.  

 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

(5:32:58) – Led by Member Horton. 

Attendee Name Status Arrived 

Chairperson Tim Puliz Present  

Vice Chair Harlow Norvell Present  

Treasurer Jon Rogers Present  

Member Michaela Flint Present  

Member Michael Golden Present  

Member Curtis Horton Present   

Member Karl Hutter Absent  

https://www.carson.org/government/city-meetings


Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                    November 20, 2024 

 

 
 

 

 
Page 2 

 
  

C. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF PAST MEETINGS OF THE AIRPORT AUTHORITY. 

(5:33:27) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item and entertained comments, changes, and/or a motion to approve 

the minutes of the October 16, 2024 meeting.  

(5:33:42) – MOTION: Treasurer Rogers moved to approve the minutes of the October 16, 2024 meeting. 

Member Horton seconded the motion. The motion carried 6-0-0. 

 

 

 

  

 

 

D. MODIFICATION OF THE AGENDA. 

(5:34:19) – Chair Puliz announced that Item H-3 was pulled from the agenda, noting that Authority Members felt 

they needed more information on the matter and that it would be revisited during a future meeting.  

E. PUBLIC COMMENT 

(5:35:30) – Chairperson Puliz entertained public comments; however, none were forthcoming.  

F. AIRPORT ENGINEER’S REPORT 

(5:35:51) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Brian Martinezmoles of Wood Rodgers provided his report, 

which is incorporated into the record. 

(5:36:39) – Treasurer Rogers asked about the State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO)’s involvement in the 

drainage improvement project. Mr. Martinezmoles stated that Coffman and Associates would handle the 

environmental work and that SHPO’s role involved reviewing cultural and historical reports prepared for the Federal 

Aviation Administration (FAA). 

(5:37:21) – Treasurer Rogers asked for updates regarding the Snow Removal Equipment (SRE) building. Mr. 

Jenkins stated that the special use permit for the SRE building was approved. He noted that the building permit was 

pending the approval of the special use permit and would be approved soon. Mr. Jenkins added that construction 

would not begin until after winter due to timing constraints.  He mentioned that Armstrong Consultants had provided 

updates on the Aeronautical Survey for Nighttime Approach and Offset Precision approach path indicator (PAPI) 

Construction, noting progress with flight check dates to be determined by the FAA. Mr. Jenkins shared that snow 

RESULT:  APPROVED (6-0-0) 

MOVER:  Rogers 

SECONDER:  Horton 

AYES:   Puliz, Norvell, Rogers, Flint, Golden, Horton 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTENTIONS None 

ABSENT:  Hutter 



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                    November 20, 2024 

 

 
 

 

 
Page 3 

 
  

removal equipment had been delivered on October 28, 2024, with grant closeout expected in the spring. He 

mentioned that the FAA was considering amending the grant to cover expenses caused by equipment delays.   

G. CONSENT AGENDA 

None. 

H. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1.  FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVAL OF AIRPORT LEASE 

AMENDMENT FOR THE SOUTH FBO LEASE HELD BY MOUNTAIN WEST CXP, LLC, (“MW”), TO 

RELEASE APPROXIMATE 17,000 SQ FT FOR THE AIRPORT TO USE FOR A TAXILANE, AND TO 

EXTEND THE LEASE FOR 8 YEARS IN RETURN. 

(5:41:13) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Mr. Tackes noted that Member Golden is an owner of Mountain 

West and would not be participating as an Airport Authority Member. Mr. Tackes referenced the Staff Report and 

Supporting Materials, all of which are incorporated into the record. He went over the proposed lease amendment 

for Mountain West to release approximately 17,000 square feet of land for a taxi lane. Mr. Tackes explained the 

negotiation process including methods for valuing the property. 

(5:47:53) – Chair Puliz entertained public comments. Bruce Carrade, representing Carson Tahoe Executive (CTE), 

stated that his company assumed two 50-year leases with the Airport. Mr. Carrade explained that under those leases, 

any improvements made during the term would typically revert to the Airport at the end of the leases. He noted that 

CTE supported the expansion and the taxi lane development but opposed the $33,114 compensation, arguing that 

it was unfair due to the parcel’s lack of development and limited revenue potential with the remaining years on the 

lease. Mr. Carrade suggested alternative forms of compensation including rent adjustments or a one-time payment 

to Mountain West. He urged the Authority to reconsider extending the lease without requiring significant 

investment, noting concerns with fairness and long-term precedence.  

(5:53:27) – Chris Wyatt, representing Stellar Aviation in partnership with CTE, expressed support for the 

development of the leasehold but raised concerns regarding the proposed lease extension terms for Mountain West. 

Mr. Wyatt stated that Mount West was not losing any revenue under the proposed lease extension and noted it was 

advantageous for them to forgo rent while allowing for land development. He cautioned against setting a precedent 

by valuing an eight-year lease extension at $33,000 or $4,000 annually. 

(5:55:19) – Chair Puliz noted that there was significant discussion regarding the amendment and whether the FAA 

would perceive the matter as fair and equitable for all tenants. He asked Mr. Jenkins to share his research on the 

topic. Mr. Jenkins acknowledged that this was a sensitive issue in aviation nationwide, particularly regarding 

revisionary clauses in ground leases. Mr. Jenkins explained that airports are mandated to be as self-sustaining as 

possible and usually extending a lease does not align with the requirement but in rare cases, a pathway could be 

found to support private entities while ensuring the Airport’s sustainability.  He added that the Airport would gain 

significant value beyond the $33,000, since the parcel to the south could now be leased.  



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                    November 20, 2024 

 

 
 

 

 
Page 4 

 
  

(5:57:56) – Mr. Tackes addressed Mr. Carrade’s comments that lease extensions typically require property 

improvements, noting that in this case, the Airport was reclaiming property rather than improving it. He disagreed 

with the suggestion that waiving rent would suffice as compensation, explaining that tenants pay fair market value 

based on their original agreements, which is often significantly less than current market rates. Mr. Tackes 

highlighted potential development opportunities that were lost by Mountain West due to the lease amendment. He 

stated that the proposal was fair, did not set an unfavorable precedent, and was a better alternative to costly 

condemnations. Discussion ensued regarding the condemnation process.  

(6:03:05) – Chair Puliz noted that he had asked Member Hutter to review the proposal and Member Hutter affirmed 

that the deal was fair and equitable.  

(6:04:13) – MOTION: Member Horton moved to approve the amendment. Vice Chair Norvell seconded the 

motion. The motion carried 5-0-0 with Member Golden abstaining from the vote.  

 

 

 

 

 

 2. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION AND 

NOTICE OF INVITATION TO BID TO CARSON CITY AIRPORT LEASE LOCATED AT THE 

SOUTH SIDE OF AIRPORT BEING 2.48 ACRES BOUNDED BY COLLEGE PARKWAY, THE 

AIRPORT PARKING LOT, AND THE EXISTING LEASES TO THE WEST AND NORTH OF THE 

SUBJECT PARCEL; APPROPRIATE MINIMUM LEASE RATE AND TERMS OF LEASE AND 

PERMITTED USES; SET DEADLINE FOR BIDS AND THE DATE FOR THE BID OPENING AND 

CONSIDERATION PURSUANT TO NRS 244.283. 

(6:04:56) – Chair Puliz introduced the item. Mr. Jenkins referenced the Staff Report and Supporting Materials, all 

of which are incorporated into the record. Mr. Jenkins stated that a party had expressed interested in bidding on the 

land for commercial use, explaining that the land is not currently designated as non-aviation under the Airport 

Layout Plan (ALP) and required FAA approval. He noted that the taxi lane to the runway from the area was only 

79 feet wide, smaller than the design standard of 131 feet. Mr. Jenkins highlighted the property’s potential as a 

prime fixed-base operator (FBO) location.  

(6:08:17) – Mr. Tackes referenced the Staff Report, noting that the outlined FBO uses were intentionally left broad. 

He noted that the appraised value of the property at $0.64 per square foot.  

(6:10:18) – In response to Vice Chair Norvell, Mr. Tackes went over the proposed timeline for bids, noting that 

bids would be reviewed at the January 15, 2025 meeting.  

RESULT:  APPROVED (5-0-0) 

MOVER:  Horton 

SECONDER:  Norvell 

AYES:   Puliz, Norvell, Rogers, Flint, Horton 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTENTIONS Golden 

ABSENT:  Hutter 



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                    November 20, 2024 

 

 
 

 

 
Page 5 

 
  

(6:11:17) – Member Golden emphasized the opportunity to the develop the property and encouraged the Authority 

to consider the opportunity, describing it as a cornerstone location for an FBO due to its visibility and access.  

(6:13:51) – In response to Treasurer Rogers, Mr. Jenkins clarified that access would be via the existing parking lot. 

Treasurer Rogers asked about the timing of the appraisal and Mr. Tackes confirmed that it was completed within 

the past six months.   

(6:14:51) – Mr. Jenkins suggested that the resolution and notice to bid should state that the current ALP did not 

identify the land as non-aviation use and that the access point for the parcel to the Airport was only 79 feet wide. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

(6:16:08) – Mr. Carrade expressed support for the bidding process. Mr. Tackes responded to clarifying questions 

regarding the timeline for the process.  

(6:17:24) – MOTION: Vice Chair Norvell moved to approve the draft resolution and the notice of invitation 

to bid for the land located at the south side of the Carson City Airport being 2.48 acres bounded by College 

Parkway, the Airport parking lot, and the existing lease to the west and north of the subject parcel and to 

include the language in the executive summary to the resolution and notice to bid, with a deadline for bids to 

be received January 13, 2025 and consideration on January 15, 2025. Member Golden seconded the motion. 

The motion carried 6-0-0.  

 

 

 

 

 

3.  FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: CONSIDER BIDS RECEIVED IN 

RESPONSE TO THE SOLICITATION FOR A FIXED BASE OPERATOR (FBO) TO MANAGE 

AIRPORT-OWNED TIE-DOWNS ON THE NORTHWEST RAMP. 

Deferred.  

4.  FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVE THE FAA AIRPORT 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN (“ACIP”) 2025 – 2029. 

(6:19:32) – Chair Puliz introduced the item. Mr. Jenkins referenced the Staff Report and Supporting Materials, all 

of which are incorporated into the record. He noted that the Airport would submit the ACIP earlier than usual due 

to FAA feedback. Mr. Jenkins noted the addition of the Master Plan Forecasting Update, adding that it would 

RESULT:  APPROVED (6-0-0) 

MOVER:  Norvell 

SECONDER:  Golden 

AYES:   Puliz, Norvell, Rogers, Flint, Golden, Horton 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTENTIONS None 

ABSENT:  Hutter 



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                    November 20, 2024 

 

 
 

 

 
Page 6 

 
  

provide data on current and potential aircraft usage to hopefully gain FAA approval for the first phase of the 

Runway Extension Project.  

(6:21:50) – Mr. Jenkins noted that other projects on the ACIP remained unchanged. He noted that the delay of the 

Runway Extension Project allowed for advancement on the Pavement Rehabilitation Project.  He added that the 

Master Plan Forecasting Update would require approval from the Board of Supervisors. 

(6:23:41) – MOTION: Member Golden moved to approve the 2025-2029 ACIP for Carson City Airport. 

Treasurer Rogers seconded the motion. The motion carried 6-0-0. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.   FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL AUDIT 

REPORT OF THE CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY FOR FY 2023/24. 

(6:24:18) – Chair Puliz introduced the item. Mr. Jenkins referenced the Staff Report and Supporting Materials, all 

of which are incorporated into the record. He noted that the report was in draft form to avoid the need for a special 

meeting. Treasurer Rogers clarified that the draft would not be submitted to the state if there were any changes. 

Treasurer Rogers noted that he and Mr. Jenkins reviewed the report in detail and agreed with the data and findings 

included in it.  

(6:27:09) – Mr. Jenkins outlined the findings which included designating a bookkeeper to improve internal 

controls and financial oversight, exploring software solutions, and improving checks and balances.  

(6:29:48) – Treasurer Rogers added that the auditor preferred that the Airport have a Certified Public Accountant 

(CPA) on staff or involved in the financial statement preparation process, noting that the Airport utilizes a manual 

control system and that the matter would be discussed with the auditors.  

(6:31:29) – MOTION: Member Flint moved to approve the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Annual Audit Report of 

the Carson City Airport Authority conducted by Casey Neilon. Member Horton seconded the motion. The 

motion carried 6-0-0.  

 

 

RESULT:  APPROVED (6-0-0) 

MOVER:  Golden 

SECONDER:  Rogers 

AYES:   Puliz, Norvell, Rogers, Flint, Golden, Horton 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTENTIONS None 

ABSENT:  Hutter 



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                    November 20, 2024 

 

 
 

 

 
Page 7 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

I. AIRPORT MANAGER’S REPORT 

(6:32:02) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Mr. Jenkins referenced the Airport Manager’s Report and 

provided his report, which is incorporated into the record.  

(6:34:28) – Mr. Jenkins reported that fuel flowage numbers had significantly increased by 46 percent from the 

previous year. Mr. Jenkins noted that operation numbers had decreased by 55 percent. Member Golden clarified 

that the Airport’s operation numbers were due to a new partnership with a company operating out of Elko, which 

operated large aircraft out of the FBO the previous month. 

(6:38:25) – Mr. Jenkins noted that a second ADS-B transceiver was ready to address a runway blind spot once the 

SRE building was completed. He highlighted ongoing improvements at the Airport include signage and lighting. 

Mr. Jenkins mentioned efforts to formalize AT&T’s maintenance of the Airport beacon following costly repairs.  

J. LEGAL COUNSEL’S REPORT 

(6:43:52) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item.  Mr. Tackes went over the history of the Airport beacon, 

noting that AT&T built the current tower under an agreement to relocate the light and initially handled the 

maintenance and flight control computer (FCC) registration. He noted that Mr. Jenkins was properly addressing 

the issue and highlighted the benefits of the Airport beacon.  

K.  TREASURER’S REPORT 

(6:46:28) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Treasurer Rogers referenced the Treasurer’s Report, which is 

incorporated into the record, noting that Staff had done an excellent job managing finances. He noted that rock 

materials sales were miscoded and would be corrected before the next meeting. Treasurer Rogers mentioned that 

the budget process for the next fiscal year would start early next year with the Authority reviewing the preliminary 

budget at the February 2025 meeting. Treasurer Rogers responded to clarifying questions. 

L. REPORT FROM AUTHORITY MEMBERS 

1. STATUS REVIEW OF PROJECTS 

2. INTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 

3. CORRESPONDENCE TO THE AUTHORITY 

RESULT:  APPROVED (6-0-0) 

MOVER:  Golden 

SECONDER:  Norvell 

AYES:   Puliz, Norvell, Rogers, Flint, Golden, Horton 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTENTIONS None 

ABSENT:  Hutter 



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                    November 20, 2024 

 

 
 

 

 
Page 8 

 
  

4. STATUS REPORTS AND COMMENTS FROM THE MEMBERS OF THE AUTHORITY 

(6:48:09) – Member Golden encouraged Members to check out the new snowplow and plow blade on the tractor. 

Treasurer Rogers asked whether a December meeting would be held and Members agreed to forego the December 

meeting. 

M. PUBLIC COMMENT 

(6:49:51) – Chairperson Puliz entertained public comments; however, none were forthcoming. 

N. AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT REGULAR MEETING 

(6:50:03) – Chairperson Puliz entertained requests for agenda items for the next CCAA meeting; however, none 

were forthcoming.  

O. ACTION ON ADJOURNMENT 

(6:50:10) – MOTION: Chairperson Puliz adjourned the meeting at 6:50 p.m. 

The Minutes of the November 20, 2024 Carson City Airport Authority meeting are so approved on this 15th day of 

January 2025.  



 

 

 

 

 

 

Carson City Airport Board Meeting – Engineer’s Report 1 of 1 

Engineer’s Report 

To: Carson City Airport Authority 

From: Brian Martinezmoles CC: Mr. Corey Jenkins, Airport Manager 

Date: January 13, 2025 

Subject: Engineer’s Report for Carson City Airport Authority Board Meeting 

 

Please find below a status report of the projects and/or tasks Wood Rodgers is currenting engaged in on behalf 

of the Carson City Airport.  

1.0. Airport Capital Improvement Program  

Wood Rodgers supported the Airport Manager with preparation of Grant Applications for the upcoming 

projects, specifically the RSA Drainage & Improvements Project and the Main Apron Rehabilitation.  

 

2.0. RSA Drainage & Improvements Project 

Wood Rodgers is currently through project scoping with the Airport Manager with the expectation to 

begin work as soon as grant funding is received.  

 

3.0. Main Apron Rehabilitation Project 

Wood Rodgers is currently through project scoping with the Airport Manager with the expectation to 

begin work as soon as grant funding is received.  

 

4.0. 2025 Pavement Preservation 

Wood Rodgers is currently through project scoping with the Airport Manager with the expectation to 

prepare a bid package for pavement preservation of Taxiways A, B, C, D, E, & F.  

 



Board Memo  

 

 
CCAA BOARD MEMO Agenda Item: H-1 

 

 
BOARD MEMO 2025-01 Meeting Date: January 15, 2025 

Agenda Title: FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Consider bids 
received in response to the solicitation for a Fixed Base Operator (FBO) to manage 
Airport-Owned Tie-Downs on the Northwest Ramp; Select and authorize FBO(s) 
for license agreement. 

 
Staff Summary: The Airport Manager notified all commercial service FBOs about 
the opportunity to enter into an agreement to manage the Airport-Owned Tie- 
Downs on the Northwest Ramp. Multiple responses were received from interested 
parties. Each appears to be qualified. The Airport Manager has brought this item to 
the Authority to select one or more of the FBOs, and for consideration of whether to 
reserve some tie downs for transient aircraft managed by the Airport Manager. The 
matter was continued from the November 20, 2024 Authority meeting. 

Agenda Action: Formal Action/Motion Time Requested: 15 Minutes 
 

 
Proposed Motion 

I move that we award the license agreement to   at the rate of $11.37 
per tie-down under the terms proposed by the Authority and authorize the Chair 
to execute the agreement. 

 
CCAA’S Strategic Goal 

Support economic activity in the region. 
 

Previous Action and Executive Summary 

September 18, 2024 (Item H-1) – The CCAA approved the license agreement and 
the solicitation of an FBO to manage Airport-Owned Tie-Downs on the Northwest 
Ramp. November 20, 2024 (Item H-3) – The CCAA continued the matter to a 
future meeting. 



Board Memo  

The airport does not currently operate a Fixed Base Operator (FBO) and lacks the 
staffing capacity to manage the amount of tie-down spaces on the northwest ramp. 
In addition, it is in the best interest of the community for the Authority to avoid 
competing with the existing commercial FBOs on the field. Instead, the Authority 
has focused on fostering opportunities for small businesses. 

 
Soliciting a commercial service FBO to manage the tie-downs on the northwest 
ramp presents an opportunity to increase revenue, enhance customer service, and 
contribute to the local economy, while minimizing new demands that may require 
adding Airport Staff. 

 
The rate specified in the license agreement was determined based on the current 
rate for tie-down rentals to commercial service FBOs on the northwest ramp. 

Three proposals were received and are attached. The Authority’s options range 
from selecting one of the FBOs, to splitting the tie-downs between them (assuming 
they are interested in serving less than all. With all options, the Authority can 
retain some tie downs (e.g. 5) for miscellaneous uses administered by the Airport 
Staff.  The Authority may use its judgement as to what they believe would be in 
the best interest of the Airport. 

One recommended option would be to select High Sierra Pilots since they do not 
have other tie-down rights which Mountain West and Stellar already have. High 
Sierra Pilots already 20 of these spaces and regularly shuttle pilots to and from 
this area as well as the terminal building.  This could also include removing five 
of the spaces for Airport operations use. 

 
Financial Information 

Is there a fiscal impact? 
☐ No ☒ Yes 

If yes, account name/number & amount: 3099 General Fund 

General Fund: Monthly increase of $11.37 per tie-down for a total of $284.25 per 
month or more depending on the CCAA selection. 

Is it currently budgeted? 

No 
This will likely increase Tie-Down revenues due to an increase in collections. 



Board Memo  

 
 

Alternatives 

Do not make a single selection, but split up the tie-downs to rent to multiple parties. 
Do not select and give alternative direction to Airport Staff. 
 
Board Action Taken: 

 
Motion:   1)   

2)   

Aye/Nay 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Vote Recorded By) 



1  

TIE-DOWN LICENSE AGREEMENT 

This Tie-Down License Agreement ("Agreement") is made and entered into this     day of 
January, 2025, by and between the Carson City Airport Authority, the governing authority over 
the Carson City Airport ("Licensor"), with an address of 2600 College Parkway #6, Carson City,   
Nevada   89706   (email:   airportmanager@flycarsoncity.com   )   and 

("Licensee"),    with    an    address    of 
  (email:  ). 

WITNESSETH: 
WHEREAS, Licensor is entity authorized by NRS 844 to govern the Carson City Airport, 

along with the right to contract with any person to provide services as necessary or desirable to the 
Airport. (NRS 844, Sec 9). 

WHERAS, Licensor is the entity entitled to collect fees for certain improved aircraft tie- 
downs located on Parcel Number 005-01-193 at the Carson City Airport; and 

WHEREAS, Licensee desires to license twenty-five (25) of said improved tie-downs from 
Licensor for the purpose of securing aircraft, of its own or others. 

THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, the parties agree as 
follows: 

 
1. LICENSE OF TIE-DOWNS. 
Licensor hereby license to Licensee, and Licensee hereby licenses from Licensor, twenty-five 

(25) improved aircraft tie-downs located on Parcel Number 00501193 at Carson City Airport. 
 

2. TERM. 
The term of this Agreement shall commence on February __, 2024, and shall continue for a 

period of five (5) years, with a renewal of five (5) years, unless terminated earlier in accordance with 
the provisions of this Agreement. 

 
3. FEE. 
Licensee shall pay to Licensor an initial license fee of Eleven Dollars and Thirty-Seven 

Cents ($11.37) per tie-down, per month, for a total monthly license fee of Two Hundred Eighty- 
Four Dollars and Twenty-Five Cents ($284.25) for the twenty-five (25) tie-downs. 

 
4. PAYMENT TERMS. 
Rent payments shall be due and payable on the first day of each month, commencing on February 
__, 2024. All payments shall be made payable to the Carson City Airport Authority and delivered 
to the address specified by Licensor. The failure to pay the fee, or the violation of any law, regulation 
or ordinance, shall constitute a default by Licensee. Assignee shall have ten (10) days from the 
date of written notice from Licensor to cure the default, failing which the Agreement shall be 
terminated. 

 
5. CONSUMER PRICE INDEX ADJUSTMENT. 
The adjustment of the license described above shall occur first on January 1, 2027, then at 

two-year anniversary intervals from January 1, 2027, during the term of this Lease. Such adjustment 
of license shall be based upon the percentage change reflected by the Consumer Price Index 
(hereinafter called the “Price Index”) for the preceding two-year period. The Price index shall mean 

mailto:airportmanager@flycarsoncity.com


2  

the average for “all items” shown on the “U.S. City Average for All Urban Consumers” as 
promulgated by Bureau of Legal Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor, as amended or replaced 
by the Bureau of Legal Statistics. Licensor shall measure each two-year adjustment using the most 
recently available report, recognizing that it may be necessary to use a 2-year period with a final 
quarter ending prior to each January 1 adjustment date. In no event, however, shall any decrease in 
the Price Index result in a decrease of the license below the base rate set forth in Section 3 of this 
license agreement. For example, if the Price Index ending with November of 2026 is 155.0, and for 
November 2024 was 150.0, then the rent would be adjusted by the difference (155.0-150.0) divided 
by 150.0 which equals a 3.3% increase. 

 
6. USE OF TIE-DOWNS. 
Licensee shall use the tie-downs exclusively for the purpose of securing aircraft, and may 

rent or license others to tie-down. Licensee shall not use the tie-downs for any unlawful purpose or 
in any manner that would violate any applicable laws, regulations, or ordinances. Approval of this 
lease constitutes approval of FBO services for storage of aircraft. (Class 1 FBO; no Class 2 fees) 

 
7. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS. 
Licensee shall, at its own expense, maintain the existing tie-down mechanisms and pavement 

marking in good condition and repair, reasonable wear and tear excepted. The Licensor shall be 
responsible for any structural repairs or improvements to the tie-downs. 

 
8. SNOW, ICE AND WEED REMOVAL. 
The Licensee agrees to remove snow, Ice and weeds from the areas leased and herein 

described. The Licensor, may at the request of Licensee, assist Licensee in Snow, ice and weed I 
removal. In the event of Licensor assistance, Licensee agrees to hold Licensor harmless from all 
liability for damage caused by such assistance on leased property. 

 
9. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE. 
Licensee agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Licensor from all claims, liabilities, or 

damages arising out of or related to Licensee's use of the tie-downs. Licensee shall, at its own 
expense, maintain liability insurance in an amount sufficient to cover any such claims or damages. 
Licensee shall name Licensor as an additional insured and shall provide evidence of the same to 
Licensor. 

 
10. TERMINATION. 
Either party may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days' written notice to the other 

party. In the event of termination by Licensor, Licensee shall be entitled to a prorated refund of any 
prepaid rent. 

 
11. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 
This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the 

subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements, understandings, and negotiations, whether 
written or oral. 

 
12. AMENDMENTS. 
Any amendments or modifications to this Agreement must be in writing and signed by both 

parties. Licensee may not assign this Agreement without prior approval of Licensor. 



3  

13. INDEMNIFICATION. 
To the extent permitted by law, including, but not limited to, the provisions of NRS Chapter 

41, Licensor and Licensee shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend, not excluding the other’s right 
to participate, the other party from and against all liability, claims, actions, damages, losses, and 
expenses, including but not limited to reasonable attorney’s fees and costs, arising out of any alleged 
negligent or willful acts or omissions of the indemnifying party, its officers, employees and agents 
arising in connection to this lease. Such obligation shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or 
otherwise reduce any other right or obligation of the indemnity which would otherwise exist as to 
any party or person described in this Section. 

 
14. REPORTING. 
Anything that affects the safe and efficient operation of the Airport shall be immediately 

reported to the Airport Manager. 
 

15. GOVERNING LAW. 
This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 

Federal Government, State of Nevada, City of Carson City, and Rules and Regulations of the Carson 
City Airport Authority. This Agreement shall be subordinate to the provisions and requirements of 
any existing or future agreement between the Licensor and the United States, relative to the 
development, operation, or maintenance of the Airport. 

 
16. PROPER AUTHORITY. 
Licensor and Licensee represent and warrant that the person executing this lease on behalf of 

each party has full power and authority to enter into this lease. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day 
and year first above written. 

 
LICENSEE LICENSOR 

CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
 
 
 

By  By  
Name  Tim Puliz, CHAIRMAN 

 
ATTEST: 

 
 

Jon Rogers, TREASURER 
 
 
 

STATE OF NEVADA ) 
: ss 

COUNTY OF   ) 



4  

On this   day of  , 2025, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public, 
personally appeared   (NAME OF LICENSEE)  , known to me (or proved to me) to be the 
person described herein, who executed the foregoing instrument, and he acknowledged to me, that he 
has the requisite authority and executed the same freely and voluntarily, and for the uses and 
purposes therein mentioned. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day 
and year hereinabove written. 

 
 

NOTARY PUBLIC (SEAL) 



Outlook

RE: North West Tie-Down License Agreement

From bryan@highsierrapilots.club <bryan@highsierrapilots.club>
Date Wed 9/25/2024 3:24 PM
To Corey Jenkins <cJenkins@flycarsoncity.com>

Corey,
 
I hope this message finds you well. On behalf of High Sierra Pilots, I would like to formally submit our
qualifications for the opportunity to manage the 25 tie-down spaces on the North-West Ramp at Carson
City Airport (KCXP).
Overview of High Sierra Pilots: High Sierra Pilots currently manages a fleet of 19 aircraft based at
KCXP, all tied down on the North-West Ramp. Our office is located conveniently on the ramp itself,
accessed via Arrowhead Road. We provide daily shuttle services to transport pilots and passengers
between the ramp and the main terminal building. This service can be extended to include tie-down
customers as well, offering convenient access to their aircraft.
Experience in Managing Tie-Down Spaces: As we already manage 15 aircraft + 4 spaces used for
maintenance at Stew’s Aero Services of the existing tie-down spaces on this ramp, we are well-versed in
the operations, safety, and maintenance involved in managing both transient and long-term tie-down
customers. Our team conducts multiple daily inspections of all tied-down aircraft to ensure their security
and proper maintenance. This existing infrastructure allows us to easily incorporate additional tie-downs
and offer the same level of care for aircraft not in our fleet. We are also well-positioned to assist with the
collection of tie-down fees on behalf of the airport.
Commitment to Service and Safety: High Sierra Pilots operates with a commitment to safety,
compliance with all FAA and aviation regulations, and customer satisfaction. In addition to managing tie-
downs, we are a licensed maintenance shop, routinely working with aircraft coming to KCXP for
maintenance. Our team manages towing, taxiing, and the safe return of aircraft for owners based at the
airport, demonstrating our comprehensive approach to aircraft care and safety.
Capacity for Expansion: Our daily presence and operations on the North-West Ramp make us
uniquely suited to oversee the additional tie-down spaces with minimal disruption and maximum
efficiency. We look forward to expanding our services and ensuring that both transient and long-term
customers experience top-tier service. We are prepared to enhance our operations as needed to
accommodate the additional spaces and ensure all aircraft are maintained to the highest standards.
Thank you for considering High Sierra Pilots for this opportunity. We believe our established presence,
experience, and commitment to service make us an ideal candidate to manage these tie-down spaces.
We would be happy to provide any further details or meet to discuss how we can support the airport’s
goals.
 
Sincerely,
 
 

 

Bryan Stewart 
High Sierra Pilots Flying Club

Phone: 775-782-9595

Web h�ps://highsierrapilots.club/

Email bryan@highsierrapilots.club 

Carson City Airport KCXP

2101 Arrowhead Dr STE: #201 

11/19/24, 2:17 PM RE: North West Tie-Down License Agreement - Corey Jenkins - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 1/2

https://highsierrapilots.club/
mailto:bryan@highsierrapilots.club


 
 
From: Corey Jenkins <cJenkins@flycarsoncity.com>
Sent: Wednesday, September 25, 2024 2:55 PM
To: Corey Jenkins <cJenkins@flycarsoncity.com>
Subject: North West Tie-Down License Agreement
 
I hope this message finds you well. We are seeking qualified Fixed Base Operators (FBOs), who are
interested in participating, to submit their qualifications for a license agreement regarding the rental of 25
tie-down spaces on the North-West Ramp at Carson City Airport.
 
The selected FBO will be able to utilize the tie-down spaces for their own aircraft while also making them
available for transient and monthly customers. We are particularly interested in FBOs that can
demonstrate the capacity to provide adequate accommodations and services for all users, ensuring a
positive experience for our transient and long-term clients.
 
Key qualifications should include:
 

1. Experience in managing tie-down spaces for transient and monthly customers.
2. Ability to offer essential amenities and services, such as fueling and customer support.
3. Proven track record of safety and compliance with aviation regulations.
4. Demonstrated commitment to customer service and satisfaction.

Please submit your qualifications by 5 PM on October 7th, 2024 including a brief overview of your
company, relevant experience, and any additional information that supports your capability to fulfill this
agreement.
 
Thank you for your attention to this request. We look forward to your submissions and the opportunity to
work together.
 
Regards,
 
Corey Jenkins, C.M., ACE
Airport Manager
Carson City Airport
2600 College Parkway #6
Carson City, NV 89706
775-841-2255
www.flycarsoncity.com
 
 

11/19/24, 2:17 PM RE: North West Tie-Down License Agreement - Corey Jenkins - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 2/2

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fwww.flycarsoncity.com&c=E,1,rLMnWjwrZCqIPtq2BVSh_dN_NfiHL7LuqX2zMTGDgflpYCJzUgIjRT_S8Lzi0Xk8GJWCsMQZ1Jh9T4I22Kg4AnRyQi3oWpDxahBZG8w_mqwMpg6I1XjZPW4fRko,&typo=1


September 27, 2024

Mr. Corey Jenkins
Airport Manager
Carson City Airport
2600 College Parkway #4
Carson City, Nevada 89706

RE: Northwest Tie-Down License Agreement

Dear Corey:

Thank you for your consideration of our enterprise to manage & operate Carson City Airport’s
twenty-five (25) tie-down spaces located on the Northwest Ramp of the airfield.  We are pleased to
provide you with the following proposal for your review and acceptance.  All terms set forth by the
draft license agreement are deemed acceptable unless noted otherwise herein.

Licensee: Mountain West CXP, LLC, dba Mountain West Aviation

Fee: $12.00 per tie down per month for a total of $300 commencing November 1, 2024

Insurance: Licensee carries General Liability and Hangar Keeper’s Liability coverage in the
amount of $5,000,000.  Licensee will name Licensor as additional insured.

Use: Licensee shall use the tie-down spaces solely for transient and based aircraft.  All
patrons will have full use of Licensee’s FBO facilities and services located adjacent
to and in close proximity of Licensee’s leased premises.

Services: Licensee shall provide line services to all transient and based aircraft utilizing the
subject tie down spaces.  This includes but is not limited to marshaling aircraft into
parking spaces, securing the aircraft using tie down apparatuses, providing and/or
coordinating ground transportation for transient users, providing off airport parking
for all tie down users, providing baggage handling support and providing into plane
aircraft fueling, oxygen & nitrogen as requested by users.  Other services available
to all patrons include complimentary food, beverages, ice, water and coffee, flight
planning facilities, restrooms and concierge services, all at no charge to those
occupying the tie downs for aircraft parking.  These services are provided to patrons
during the hours of 0700-1800 on weekdays, 0800-1730 on weekends.



Mr. Corey Jenkins
September 27, 2024
Page Two

After Hours: Licensee is available to provide all services after normal business hours for a fee
payable by any patron. 

Ramp Access/
Management: Licensee controls access to the vehicular gate accessing the subject tie down

area.  Licensee will continue to restrict vehicular access to only authorized
users ensuring a safe and secure environment.

Mountain West Aviation has had an exemplary offering of services to our patrons at Carson City
Airport for over seventeen (17) years, offering pilots, aircraft owners and passengers excellent
customer service and a very good safety record over this time period.  Our ability to provide the very
best service accompanied by our experience with existing tie down patrons in conjunction with our
extensive service offerings to our patrons makes our enterprise best suited to serve the airport’s
needs as the proposed Licensee to manage the subject tie downs.

Thank you for your consideration of our proposal to continue serving Carson City Airport.

Respectfully,

Michael Golden
Mountain West Aviation









Board Memo

CCAABOARDMEMO Agenda Item:H-2

BOARD MEMO 2025-02 Meeting Date: January 15, 2025

Agenda Title: FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Approval of a 
Through-The Fence (TTF) Permit for three access points for Carson Tahoe 
Executive Community, LLC Located at 3700 Barron Way, Suite 2, Reno, NV 
89511. (S.Tackes, C. Jenkins).

Staff Summary: Staff Summary: Carson Tahoe Executive Community, LLC has 
applied for a TTF permit to establish three access points at their property located at 
APN 005-052- 01, APN 005-111-05, APN 005-111-06 AND APN005-111-08. The 
applicant must adhere to the requirements outlined in the Carson City Municipal 
Code (CCMC) Title 19. Recent changes to the code have specifically allowed for 
the establishment of an adjacent hangar association, under which this permit request
falls. The changes in CCMC Title 19 were intended to facilitate such community
developments, ensuring they meet safety, operational, and community standards.

Agenda Action: Formal Action/Motion Time Requested: 15 Minutes

Proposed Motion

I move that we approve the TTF Permit to Carson Tahoe Executive Community, 
LLC, under the terms and conditions set forth by Staff, authorize the Chair to sign 
the Permit and authorize the Staff to proceed with obtaining FAA approval.

CCAA’S Strategic Goal

Support economic activity in the region.

Previous Action and Executive Summary

October 17, 2024 - The Carson City Board of Supervisors approved on final 
reading the changes to CCMC Title 19 changes to Through the Fence (“TTF”) to 
allow for an Airport Hangar Association to receive TTF access upon meeting the 
list of conditions set forth in said ordinance.



2  

Carson Tahoe Executive (CTE) has proposed a hangar development outside the Airport 
fence with TTF access to the Airport.  The newly adopted Title 19 changes allow for such 
a development subject to a number of conditions, including but not limited to, aircraft 
storage only, no aeronautical (FBO) activities, construction of a security fence for access, 
pavement of connecting taxilane, payment of fees, City provision to the Airport Authority 
of the City’s portion of real property taxes on the hangars, and a number of other criteria.  
The method of implementing Title 19 requires the formation of an Association which CTE 
has created and has been filed with the Nevada Secretary of State as Carson Tahoe 
Executive Community, LLC.  To apply it to the property, CTE will be required to record a 
Declaration of CCRs against the property and operate under Rules and Regulations 
adopted by Carson Tahoe Executive Community, LLC.  The latter requirements are being 
included in the Permit as conditions since those steps have not yet been taken, but CTE 
has provided the Authority with the documents which Staff found acceptable.  There are 
other requirements set forth in Title 19 that are also incorporated, including but not limited 
to, paving and maintaining the taxilanes connecting the development to Taxiway B, 
construction of a gate which will be controlled by the Airport using card or clicker devices 
for access, and other requirements. 
 
The TTF access will still require some form of assurance from the FAA that by allowing 
the access the Airport Authority is not jeopardizing continued FAA funding or violating 
any FAA requirements.  In Staff’s preliminary meetings with the FAA, they indicated that 
TTF for off airport hangar developments are not favored but are permitted so long as there 
is a significant financial benefit to the Airport and that all FAA requirements are met (e.g. 
safety, security, prohibition of FBO activities, etc.). 
 
Approval of the Permit will allow Staff to meet with the FAA and obtain that assurance.  
It may come as an approval, a clearance, a determination of no FAA action, or some other 
form.  To that end Staff is still waiting for the updated information on financial benefit 
from CTE.  However, given the structure of Title 19, the Airport is poised to obtain both 
the TTF fees and the property taxes on the hangars, and thus we believe sufficient 
evidence should be available. 
 
The proposed Permit is attached.  It will become effective upon the Authority obtaining 
the assurance from the FAA.  At that point, the TTF is the amount set forth for TTF 
without hangars which is a flat fee to be set by the Authority.  The current fee is an annual 
fee of $750.00 since it is access “not presently being used”.   This is per the rates approved 
by the Authority on October 19, 2022, per the FAA requirement to update TTF rates at 
least once every 5 years.  (That requirement came from the FAA onsite land use audit.) 
 
 
 



3  

Financial Information 

Is there a fiscal impact? 
 No  Yes 

If yes, account name/number & amount: 3099 General Fund 

General Fund: Increase of TTF fees and property taxes. Amount initially will be 
$750/yr upon FAA approval of the TTF, then once hangars are constructed it will 
be $0.43/sqft/yr based on the hangar sizes. 

Is it currently budgeted? 

No 
This will increase TTF and real property revenues. 

 
 

Alternatives 

Do not approve the Permit until more conditions are met instead of conditioning the 
Permit. Give alternative direction to Airport Staff. 
Board Action Taken: 

 
Motion:   1)   

2)   

Aye/Nay 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Vote Recorded) 



 
 

AIRPORT ACCESS PRIVILEGE PERMIT 
 

This Airport Access Privilege Permit (PERMIT) issued for Through-the-Fence access, 

by the Carson City Airport Authority (Authority), whose address is 2600 College 

Parkway #6, Carson City, Nevada 89706, to: Carson Tahoe Executive Community, LLC,  

a common interest realty association as an Adjacent Hangar Association (AHA) and it’s 

respective members who are the owners of Property (defined below) (hereinafter 

collectively referred to as PERMITTEE), whose mailing address is 3700 Barron Way, 

Suite 2, Reno, Nevada 89511.The Effective Date of this Permit begins upon tAuthority 

confirmation from the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) of clearance, positive 

response,or no objection response as to the Through-the-Fence (“TTF”) access grant 

by the Authority. 

 

TERMS: 

 

WHEREAS, PERMITTEE owns the property identified as: 

 APN 005-052-01  

APN 005-111-05;  

APN 005-111-06; and  

APN 005-111-08 

or as further identified in the future and consisting of approximately 28.226 acres 

containing an area identified in the hangar development Site Plan (the “Property”) as 

shown in Exhibit A and which Property is located in an industrial land use zoning and in 

an industrial area, and collectively is adjoining to the Carson City Airport (“Airport”), and 

having Airport access pursuant to the recorded deed of the Property and subject to 

regulations set forth in Carson City Municipal Code (CCMC) Title 19.03; and 

WHEREAS, PERMITTEE is a common interest realty association as an AHA 

(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Association”), with each member of the 

Association having a membership interest in the Association and the Association 



Taxiway Property and each member being the owner of parcels of land adjoining the 

Association Taxiway Property, as set forth in the Rules and Regulations (Exhibit B); and 

WHEREAS, PERMITTEE expressly warrants and acknowledges that this 

PERMIT is granted subject to the terms of terms set forth in CCMC Title 19.02.020.030. 

- RULES AND REGULATIONS; CCMC Title 19.02.020.100 - ACCEPTANCE OF 

RULES BY USE; and CCMC Title 19.03 - THROUGH-THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT 

OPERATION; and 

WHEREAS, PERMITTEE expressly warrants and acknowledges that this 

PERMIT is granted subject to the conditions and criteria of the Federal Aviation 

Administration (“FAA”) relative to through-the-fence access guidelines; and 

WHEREAS, PERMITTEE is a common interest realty association, that is 

governed by the Code Covenants and Restrictions (“CC&Rs”) of the Association 

(attached as Exhibit C) which members are subject thereto, which CC&Rs are 

consistent with the terms and regulations of this Permit as well as CCMC Title 19.03 ; 

and conditioned on: 

 1. The development of the project per the Site Plan (Exhibit A), 

2. The hangar association set up under the Rules and Regulations (Exhibit 

B) 

3. The recording of the Declaration of CCRS on the area covering the site 

plan (Exhibit C). 

4. Positive response to the Authority from the FAA so that other Airport 

funding is not in jeopardy due to this TTF permit. The positive response may come as a 

clearance, determination of no action or other non-objection response from the FAA. 

WHEREAS, PERMITTEE utilizes the Property for business purposes and aircraft 

will be stored on such Property and used incidental to such business; and  

WHEREAS, PERMITTEE acknowledges that commercial aeronautical services 

are not permitted to occur from the Property; 

THEREFORE, the Authority grants PERMITTEE (or successor upon proper 

notice to and approval from Authority) Airport access under the following terms: 

 



1. PERMITTEE shall have access for the identified Property under the terms 

set forth in CCMC Title 19.03 which is incorporated by reference herein 

and made a part hereof, and shall pay an annual fee as set forth in CCMC 

Title 19.03.060 for such access. 

 

2. PERMITTEE shall have three (3) points of access through the fence to the 

Airport serving the Property at the locations to be agreed upon between 

PERMITTEE and the Authority and as reflected in an Airport Layout Plan. 

 

3. PERMITTEE expressly warrants and acknowledges that this PERMIT is 

granted subject to the terms of CCMC Title 19 which requires, among 

other things, that no property with access shall be allowed to carry on any 

of the aeronautical uses specified in the Carson City Airport Rules and 

Regulations contained in Title 19 of the CCMC, regarding sale of fuel, 

parts, service or maintenance of aircraft. Further, PERMITTEE has 

represented and warranted that no activity will be allowed on the Property 

that competes with commercial aeronautical Fixed Base Operations (as 

that term is defined in Title 19 of the CCMC). 

 

4. PERMITTEE expressly warrants and acknowledges that the Airport 

operates subject to the requirements of the FAA, and that PERMITTEE 

will take no action on or about the Property which would interfere with 

Airport operations or funding consistent with applicable FAA requirements. 

 

5. PERMITTEE shall be responsible for the provision and maintenance of 

any connecting pavement, fencing or other safety requirements on the 

Property so as to access the Airport, and for the maintenance of such 

improvements to the Property. PERMITTEE shall construct any 

accessway in a reasonable and appropriate time period that coordinates 

with the construction and development of the Property and 

notwithstanding any time requirements set forth in CCMC Title 19.03.080. 



 

6. PERMITTEE expressly warrants and acknowledges that personal property 

tax upon aircraft based at the Property, including all personal property tax 

for aircraft of the members of the Association, shall be promptly paid when 

due. 

 

7. PERMITTEE expressly warrants and acknowledges that Airport security 

through the Property shall be maintained pursuant to the terms of CCMC 

Title 19. The PERMITTEE will have a written security plan complying with 

all Carson City Airport security programs and criteria that is to be provided 

to the airport demonstrating positive control of all access points to the 

Airport’s Air Operating Area (AOA) by all PERMITTEES, their guests, and 

personnel.  The PERMITTEE shall install a gate to be operated via remote 

device that can be assigned to each aircraft.  The Authority shall maintain 

the gate and charge the PERMITEE the maintenance fee in the amount of 

actual gate maintenance costs. 

 

8. Upon the terms contained herein and the conditions set forth above, the 

Authority hereby grants to PERMITTEE Airport access from the landside 

Property through-the-fence to the Airport's Air Operation Area (AOA) 

pursuant to CCMC Title 19, for a certain number of aircraft as set forth in 

CCMC Title 19.03.030 or as otherwise increased by the Authority. All such 

aircraft must be used incidental to the business operations taking place on 

the Property, which shall not be commercial aeronautical services. 

 

9. The Property, or the respective real property of the members of the 

Association, may be sold or assigned in whole or in part by PERMITTEE, 

or members of the Association and this PERMIT may be transferred to the 

successor in interest so long as (1) the successor in interest is also the 

owner of the real property adjacent to the Airport or the Association 

Taxiway Property, (2) PERMITTEE or the successor in interest is current 



on all payments and reports the transfer of this PERMIT to the Authority, 

(3), the Authority consents and approves of the transfer of this Permit, and 

(4) the transfer of this PERMIT otherwise meets the conditions and criteria 

of the FAA relative to through the fence access. 

 

10. PERMITTEE must maintain a liability insurance policy on the Property in 

the minimum amount of one million dollars ($1,000,000) and name the 

Authority, the Airport, and the City of Carson as additional insureds under 

such liability policy. 

 

11. This PERMIT is subject to termination by the Authority as set forth in 

CCMC 19.03.050. In addition, the Authority may terminate this PERMIT 

upon: (1) PERMITTEE failing to pay the annual fee within fifteen (15) days 

of receiving notice that such fee remains outstanding and overdue; (2) if 

PERMITTEE files for voluntary petition in bankruptcy, or makes a general 

assignment for the benefit of creditors, or otherwise assigns or attempts to 

assign its interest in this PERMIT without the required prior consent of the 

Authority; (3) PERMITTEE uses or allows the use of the Property for any 

purpose which is not authorized by this PERMIT, or uses the Property in 

violation of any law, rule or regulation (including the rules and regulation of 

the Airport); or (4) PERMITTEE fails to meet any term or condition of this 

PERMIT. 

 

12. Unless otherwise terminated earlier pursuant to CCMC Title 19.03.050, 

this PERMIT will   continue in effect for a period of five (5) years and shall 

automatically renew in five-year increments. Termination by the Authority 

of the PERMIT and any automatic renewal may occur at any time but only 

upon PERMITEE’S violation of any terms of this Permit, any regulations 

set forth in CCMC Title 19 or other relevant regulations or directives by the 

Authority and after following the process for revocation as set forth in 

CCMC Title 19.03.050.  In the event that the PERMITTEE wishes to 



cancel the PERMIT, such cancellation may take place immediately but 

shall not result in a refund of any fee paid or which is overdue. 

 

Dated this __ day of January, 2025 

 

 

______________________________ 

Tim Puliz, Chairman 

Carson City Airport Authority 

 



H
15

H
5

H
4

H
3

H
2 H
1

H
6

H
7

H
8

H
9

H
10 H
11

H
12

H
13

H
14

H
16

B1

CARSON-TAHOE
BUSINESS PARK

CARSON CITY, NEVADA

©

NORTH

SITE PLAN

C
10

1
MATCHLINE - SEE SHEET C102

LE
G

EN
D

SI
TE

 D
AT

A



H
18

H
19

H
20

H
17

H
21

H
22

H
23

H
24

H
27

H
28

H
29

H
30

H
25

H
26

B3
B4

B2

CARSON-TAHOE
BUSINESS PARK

CARSON CITY, NEVADA

©

NORTH

SITE PLAN

C
10

2

MATCHLINE - SEE SHEET C101

LE
G

EN
D

SI
TE

 D
AT

A



















































































































































































Summary: an ordinance amending provisions relating to Carson City Airport rules and regulations. 

BILL NO.  

ORDINANCE No. 2024 - ____ 

AN ORDINANCE RELATING TO CARSON CITY AIRPORT RULES AND 
REGULATIONS; REVISING AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS TO 
ALLOW IMPOSITION OF FEES FOR SECURED AIRPORT ACCESS AND 
ESTABLISHING LIABILITY INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 
AIRCRAFT; REVISING VARIOUS PROVISIONS RELATING TO THROUGH-
THE-FENCE OPERATIONS; AND PROVIDING OTHER MATTERS 
PROPERLY RELATED THERETO. 

The Board of Supervisors of Carson City does ordain: 

SECTION I: 

That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.02 (AIRPORT 
RULES AND REGULATIONS), Section 19.02.020.050 (PUBLIC USE) is hereby amended 
(bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 

19.02.020.050 – PUBLIC USE. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport 
Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989)  

The Airport shall be open for public use at all hours of the day, subject to regulation or 
restriction due to weather, the conditions of the landing area, the presentation of special events and 
like causes, as may be determined by the Airport Manager or Airport Authority and revocation of 
the right to use for violation of these rules and regulations as herein provided. The Airport 
Authority may institute a gate card or other control system for secured access of persons, 
vehicles and aircraft to the Airport with fees to cover the costs of operation. 

SECTION II: 

That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.02 (AIRPORT 
RULES AND REGULATIONS), Section 19.02.020.200 (GENERAL) is hereby amended (bold, 
underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 

19.02.020.200 - GENERAL. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport 
Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989) 

1. Every person operating an aircraft shall comply with and operate such aircraft in
conformity with these rules and regulations, and all pertinent rules, regulations, orders and rulings 
of the FAA and Department of Homeland Security. All aircraft and ultralight vehicles based at 
the Airport must, prior to taxiing, being towed, being pushed or otherwise being put in 

228



motion at the Airport, be covered by liability insurance maintained by the owner or operator 
of the aircraft or ultralight vehicle, as determined by the Airport Authority. The insurance 
shall be in a minimum amount of coverage, as determined by the Authority, and shall name 
the Authority as an additional insured. 

2.  So long as the Airport is an uncontrolled airport, all pilots of arriving and departing 
aircraft having radio equipment permitting two-way communications should monitor the AWOS 
frequency (119.925) to obtain current weather information and airport advisories, monitor 
UNICOM (123.00) for traffic advisories and broadcast position reports upon entering the airport 
traffic area.  

3.  A traffic pattern chart may be posted on the Airport webpage, www.flycarsoncity.com, 
to provide additional information to pilots.  

4.  The taxiing, traffic and landing rules of this chapter may be deviated from upon the 
authorization of a control tower when established on the Airport.  

5.  In the event any aircraft is wrecked or damaged to the extent that it cannot be moved 
under its own power, the Airport Manager shall be immediately notified. Subject to governmental 
investigations and inspections of the wreckage, the owner or pilot of the wrecked or damaged 
aircraft, or the owner's agent or legal representative shall, as soon as reasonably possible, obtain 
the necessary permission for removal of the aircraft and thereupon shall promptly remove such 
aircraft from all landing areas, taxiways, ramps, tie-down areas, and all other traffic areas and 
[placed or stored] placed or stored where designated by the Airport Manager. No such wrecked 
or damaged aircraft shall be permitted to remain exposed to the general public of the Airport. In 
the event the owner of the aircraft fails for any reason to remove the wrecked or damaged aircraft 
from the Airport as may be requested by the Airport Manager, or to remove it from the traffic areas 
as herein indicated, the Airport Manager may cause the removal and storage, or disposal of such 
wrecked or damaged aircraft at the expense of the aircraft owner.  
 
 
SECTION III: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.010 (Definitions) is hereby amended 
(bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.010 – Definitions. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport Authority 
Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989)  
Definitions as used in this chapter are:  

1.  “Authority” means the Carson City Airport Authority.  
2.  “Airport” means the Carson City Airport Facility (KCXP), identified pursuant to 

The Airport Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989, and 
operated by the Authority, including all Authority owned improvements and equipment 
existing or to be developed. 

[2.]3.  “Board” means the Carson City Board of Supervisors.  
[3.]4.  “City” means the city of Carson City, Nevada.  
[4.]5.  “Permittee” means the entity, be it a person, [corporation or partnership] 

corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or Association that applies for and is 
granted an [access privilege permit] Access Privilege Permit by the Authority.  

229



[5.  “Access privilege permit”] 6.  “Access Privilege Permit” is a document whereby the 
Authority grants a privilege to a [permittee who is actually doing business on a tract of land 
adjoining the airport public landing area to gain access to the landing area solely for aircraft used 
incidental to such business. Said access privilege permit may be transferred to a successor in 
interest of the permittee so long as the successor in interest is also the owner of real property 
adjacent to the Airport and reports the transfer of the permit to the Authority. The Authority 
reserves the right to relocate its taxiways so long as access to the taxiway is accorded to the 
permittee. The permittee has the duty to maintain its accessway in accordance with Section 
19.03.070 and to indemnify the city and the authority pursuant to Section 19.03.160 of this 
chapter.] Permittee to gain secure access from fee simple land contiguous to Airport to the 
landing area of the Airport. 

7.  “Adjacent Hangar Association”,  “AHA” or “Association” means a common-
interest community association that is contiguous to the Airport and includes multiple 
hangars as part of its development and association.  

8.  “FAA” means the Federal Aviation Administration of the United States 
Department of Transportation.  
 
 
SECTION IV: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.020 (Access privileges) is hereby 
amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.020 – Access [privileges.] privileges; eligibility; issuance; transfer; duties. (Art. 2, § 
2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 
Statutes of Nevada 1989)  
 1.  Access Privilege. Access Privilege Permits [Airport access permits] shall be limited 
to one per parcel [and to the industrial zoned land adjoining the airport boundary north and east of 
the airport.] of real property. 
 (a)  Access Privilege Permits granted to an Association shall encompass and be 
applicable to every member of that Association that meets the requirements of this Chapter. 
 (b)  The security gate or other method of entry and the corresponding control devices 
must be approved in advance by the Authority consistent with 19.02.020.050.  With regard 
to AHAs, such control will be issued by the Authority to those members of the Association in 
compliance with this Chapter.  
 2.  Eligibility. An Access Privilege Permit is eligible to be granted to a potential 
Permittee upon fulfilling each of the following conditions: 
 (a)  Permittee is a landowner, including an Association and on behalf of its members, 
of any real property which is located to the north or east of the Airport. The Permittee’s real 
property must be contiguous to the Airport to allow access to the Airport or, in the 
circumstance of an Association, the real property of the Association, including its common 
area, is contiguous to the Airport. Each member of an Association is a Permittee under the 
Access Privilege Permit granted to that Association so long as each Association member 
occupies real property that is contiguous with the real property of the Association and has 
an ownership interest in the real property of the Association contiguous to the Airport and 

230



over which access to the Airport is granted. Such member must construct (or have 
constructed) a hangar on its real property. 
 (b)  Permittee is doing business on such real property and the business of the 
Permittee must not be engaged in the business of a commercial aeronautical activity to the 
public. 
 (c)  Permittee’s use or storage of an aircraft and access to the public landing area of 
the Airport is incidental to the Permittee’s business.  
 (d)  All Permittees and their access to the Airport is subject to the conditions and 
criteria of the FAA relative to through-the-fence access.  
 (e)  For an Association, each of its members must individually meet and maintain the 
eligibility requirements stated in paragraphs (a)-(d), inclusive, of this subsection. 
 (f)  For an Association, the Association must adopt rules and regulations that ensure 
compliance with and, at a minimum, are as restrictive as any rules and regulations of this 
Chapter 19.03 and any rules and regulations of the Airport, as they may be amended from 
time to time.  
 3.  Issuance.  All Access Privilege Permits shall be memorialized by a written 
agreement between the Permittee and Authority that complies with all FAA standards for 
such agreements and these regulations set forth in Chapter 19.03. 
 4.  Transfer. An Access Privilege Permit may be transferred to a successor in interest 
of the Permittee so long as the successor in interest is also the successor in interest of the 
same real property, and reports the transfer of the Access Privilege Permit to the Authority, 
and obtains written consent from the Authority for such transfer, which shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. 
 5.  Duties.  
 (a)  The Authority reserves the right to relocate its taxiways so long as access to the 
taxiway is accorded to the Permittee.  
 (b)  The Permittee has the duty to maintain its accessway in accordance with Section 
19.03.070 and to indemnify the City and the Authority pursuant to Section 19.03.160 of this 
chapter. 
 (c)  Permittee will not engage in any activity or conduct on or about the Airport or 
Permittee’s own real property which would interfere with Airport operations or funding 
consistent with FAA requirements. 
 
 
SECTION V: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.030 (Number of aircraft) is hereby 
amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.030 – Number of aircraft. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport 
Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989)  
 The number of aircraft is limited to no more than four [(4)] resident aircraft per [parcel 
owned by the permittee. A permittee may apply to the Authority for more aircraft per parcel,] 
Access Privilege Permit which are based at the real property of the Permittee, except that if 
Permittee is an Association, then the number of aircraft is limited to no more than four  

231



resident aircraft per member of the Association. A Permittee may apply to the Authority to 
increase the number of allowed aircraft, which increase may be granted by the Authority for 
good cause. 
 
 
SECTION VI: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.040 (Method of access) is hereby 
amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.040 – Method of access. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport 
Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989)  
 In order to promote [airport] Airport safety and security the Authority shall not allow an 
excessive number of through-the-fence accessways entering onto a taxiway. The access points to 
a taxiway shall be located and coordinated by [permittees] Permittees and the Authority in such a 
way as to allow joint use of [one (1) accessway] accessways between adjoining parcels or 
[owners.] owners in order to avoid an excessive number of accessways. The Authority shall 
have discretion to limit a [permittee] Permittee access through an existing [access way] accessway 
if the Authority finds that [airport] Airport safety and security so requires. 
 
 In addition, except through existing taxiways, there shall be no midfield access permitted 
to the runway unless [and until the northside parallel taxiways are constructed and until] said 
access is approved by the Authority and the FAA. 
 
 
SECTION VII: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.050 (Revocation for cause—
Procedures) is hereby amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as 
follows: 
 
19.03.050 – Revocation for cause—Procedures. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; 
The Airport Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989)  
 1.  An [access privilege permit] Access Privilege Permit may be revoked for good cause 
by the Authority. Good cause for such revocation shall include, but is not limited to any act 
committed by [permittee] Permittee, or permitted or caused by a [permittee] Permittee in 
conjunction with the access privilege which act is in violation of any law, ordinance or FAA 
regulation. Good cause also includes a Permittee failing to pay an access fee within fifteen  
days of notification that such fee has not been paid. 
 2.  Any [permit] Access Privilege Permit issued pursuant to the provisions of this [chapter] 
Chapter may be revoked in the following manner:  
 [a.  The Airport Manager may revoke the permit if the permittee fails to pay the permit fee 
within fifteen (15) days of notification that such fee has not been paid.]  

232



 (a)  In the situation of an immediate emergency, security or safety issue, the Airport 
Manager can temporarily suspend any Access Privilege Permits for such time as reasonably 
necessary to protect the safety of the Airport. As soon as reasonably practical the Airport 
Manager must declare in writing to all Permittees the nature and description of the 
immediate emergency, security or safety issue and a good faith estimate of the time period 
that the Access Privilege Permits will be temporarily suspended. 
 [b.](b)  The Authority may, on its own motion or initiative, or upon verified complaint of 
any person, institute proceedings to revoke [a permit] an Access Privilege Permit by mailing or 
delivering a complaint setting forth the alleged [reason for such permittee as shown by his 
application or by a supplemental application filed pursuant to the provisions hereof.] reasons for 
revocation to such Permittee.   
 [c.](c)  The [permittee] Permittee shall, within ten (10) days of the date of service of such 
[mailing] complaint, file with the secretary of the Authority a written answer to such complaint, 
under oath.  
 [d.](d)  The Authority shall fix a day and time for a hearing at which the [permittee] 
Permittee will be given an opportunity to be heard. To the extent the Permittee resolves the 
issues of the complaint to the satisfaction of the Authority, the Authority may dismiss the 
complaint. 
 [e.](e)  If the [permittee] Permittee fails to file a written answer within the time required, 
or if the [permittee] Permittee fails to appear at the place and time designated for the hearing, the 
Authority may order the [privilege permit] Access Privilege Permit revoked or suspended.  
 [f.  The Authority shall,] (f)  If the complaint is not otherwise resolved, satisfied or 
dismissed, the Authority may, within fifteen [(15)] days after the date of such hearing, enter its 
order to [refuse or] revoke or suspend the [permit] Access Privilege Permit. The [permittee] 
Permittee shall be allowed to operate until the order is entered and [mailed] delivered to the 
[permittee] Permittee at [his] its last known address or contact information.  
 [g.  As] (g)  In the situation of an immediate emergency, security or safety issue, the 
Authority may, as an alternative to the procedure outlined in the foregoing subsections, [the 
Authority may,] on its own initiative or upon the verified complaint of any person, require the 
[permittee] Permittee to appear before the Authority at a time and place fixed by the Authority to 
show cause, why [his privilege permit] its Access Privilege Permit should not be revoked. The 
hearing shall not be less than five [(5)] days from the date of service upon the [permittee] 
Permittee of the order by mailing a copy of the order to [him] the Permittee at [his] its last known 
address or place of business, or by making personal service upon [him] the Permittee thereof. The 
failure by the [permittee] Permittee to appear at the time and place designated by the Authority 
shall, in and of itself, constitute sufficient grounds for revocation or suspension of the [permit] 
Access Privilege Permit.  
 [h.](h)  There shall be no reopening or review of the proceedings whatsoever by the 
[authority] Authority except when it subsequently appears to the satisfaction of the Authority that 
the [permittee’s] Permittee’s failure to answer or appear was due to matters beyond [his] its 
control, and not through negligence on the part of the [permittee] Permittee.  
 [i.](i)  In all proceedings under this [chapter] Chapter the Authority shall have the right to 
subpoena witnesses and documents, and all witnesses thus subpoenaed shall attend at the time and 
place appointed therein, and failure to attend at the time and place appointed in the subpoena may 
be regarded by the Authority as contempt thereof, and a finding by the Authority to such effect 
shall be duly reported to the [sheriff for immediate disposition thereon, and shall constitute prima 

233



facie evidence of contempt in any municipal court of the City;] District Attorney’s Office for 
pursuit of any applicable remedies. Upon a proper judicial determination, the penalty for each 
such offense shall be a fine of not less than [ten dollars ($10.00)] one hundred dollars ($100.00) 
nor more than five [hundred dollars ($500.00) and shall be accompanied by incarceration of not 
less than two (2) days nor more than thirty (30) days.] thousand dollars ($5,000.00).  
 (j)  For revocation proceedings against an Association, as the Permittee, that is 
premised upon the actions or inactions of a member of that Association and not the 
Association itself, the Authority will first provide written notice to the Association and 
permit the Association thirty (30) days to resolve the complaint with its member or take all 
other remedies available to the Association under the rules and regulations of the Association 
as against that member. If the complaint or issue remains unresolved to the satisfaction of 
the Authority within the thirty (30) day time period, the Authority may initiate revocation 
actions against the Association following the procedural steps outlined above in this Section.   
 3.  In addition to the other remedies provided in this [chapter,] Chapter the Carson City 
[district attorney’s office] District Attorney’s Office is authorized to petition the district court for 
an injunction restraining any [permittee] Permittee from conducting through-the-fence access 
without a valid [permit] Access Privilege Permit or written agreement with the Authority. 
 
 
SECTION VIII: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.060 (Fees) is hereby amended (bold, 
underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.060 – Fees. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport Authority Act for 
Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989) 
 [The following] 1.  An annual access fee shall be assessed against the [permittee. An 
annual fee in the amount of:] Permittee. The Airport Authority shall assess annual fees 
following the method approved by the FAA based on Airport operational and maintenance 
costs divided by square footage of hangar space:    
 [I. For properties with hangars, the greater of a fee of seven hundred fifty dollars 
($750.00) or thirty-six cents ($0.36) per square foot times the square footage of the hangar space 
located on the permittee's property.  
 II. For properties with hangars and aircraft parked outside of the hangar, one hundred 
twenty-five dollars (125.00) per aircraft so parked, in addition to the fee in subsection 1 above.  
 III. For each property with a hangar, the fee shall be offset by the amount of real 
property taxes received by the Airport Authority on said hangar. In the event that the property 
taxes so received exceed the fees in subsection 1 and 2 above, the property tax will be considered 
full payment for the annual fee.  
 IV. For properties without hangars and with an access permit and no access being 
presently used, six hundred twenty-five dollars ($625.00).  
 V. For properties without hangars and with aircraft parked on said properties, seven 
hundred fifty dollars ($750.00), plus one hundred twenty-five dollars ($125.00) per each aircraft 
beyond the first aircraft.  

234



 The annual fee for the easement may be adjusted from time to time, to reflect the cost of 
airport maintenance and the amount of hangar space and aircraft parking.] 
 (a)  For single permitees who are manufacturers with corporate aircraft the fee will 
be based on the square footage of the hangar and offset by the amount of real property taxes 
received by the Airport Authority on said hangar. 
 (b)  For AHA developments the fee will be based on the square footage of the hangar 
and will not be offset by the real property taxes received by the Airport Authority on such 
hangars. 
 (c)  For permittees who either have no hangar or park aircraft that cannot be 
regularly parked inside the hangar, the Authority may use a flat fee for the outside stored 
aircraft. 
 2.  The annual fee for the Access Privilege Permit may be adjusted from time to time, 
pursuant to the methodology approved by the FAA that reflects the costs of usage of the 
Airport, and may be calculated by dividing the Airport operational and maintenance costs 
by the amount of hangar space. Alternatively, adjustments may be made, but no more than 
annually, and any increase to the rates of the annual fee may be set to reflect the percentage 
change reflected by the Consumer Price Index for the preceding one-year period. The annual 
fee will be based on a snapshot of the Permittee’s status, hangars on the properties and the 
resident aircraft based at the property as of January 15 of each year, or if hangars are 
constructed midyear, then beginning on the 3-month anniversary of completion of the 
hangar construction.  
 
 
SECTION IX: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.070 (Accessway construction) is hereby 
amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.070 – Accessway construction. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport 
Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989) 
 The [permittee] Permittee shall be required to construct, if non-existing, and maintain the 
accessway [on airport] to the Airport property in a safe, secure condition and in a state equal to 
the taxiway the access adjoins.  
 [Upon application for a permit, the permittee] In the event the Permittee is required to 
construct an accessway that adjoins to the Airport’s taxiway, the Permittee shall submit 
engineering and design plans to the Authority and the City for review and approval as part of 
the construction permitting process. All taxiways will be designed in accordance with FAA 
design standards and construction specifications, including centerline marking. 
 
 
SECTION X: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.080 (Accessway completion date) is 
hereby amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 

235



 
19.03.080 – Accessway completion date. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The 
Airport Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989) 
 Upon entering an agreement for [access permits, permittees] an Access Privilege Permit, 
Permittees shall complete the accessway and all amenities pertinent to the [permit within six (6) 
months of approval of the agreement] Access Privilege Permit within a reasonable timeline 
agreed upon by the Authority and the Permittee and in accordance with any phased 
construction schedule. The Authority may extend any construction completion deadline of 
an accessway for good cause. 
 
 
SECTION X: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.090 (Security) is hereby amended (bold, 
underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.090 – Security. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport Authority Act 
for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989) 
 Each [permittee] Permittee shall provide security of the accessway to prevent vehicular 
and pedestrian access to the [airport lands] Airport. The [airport manager] Airport Manager, or 
any other officer designated by the Authority is authorized and empowered to determine the 
existence of a breach of security of the accessway [permit.] Access Privilege Permit. Whenever 
the Airport Manager, or any other officer designated by the Authority shall determine that a breach 
of security exists, he shall give notice of said breach to the [permittee] Permittee. In the event that 
the Airport Manager, or any other officer designated by the Authority is required to give a second 
notice of breach to the [permittee] Permittee, then in that event the notice shall direct the 
[permittee] Permittee to appear before the Authority at its next regularly scheduled meeting to 
show cause why the [access permit] Access Privilege Permit should not be revoked pursuant to 
Section 19.03.050. 
 
 
SECTION XI: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.100 (Prohibition of certain aeronautical 
uses and fuel facilities) is hereby amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is 
deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.100 – Prohibition of certain aeronautical uses and fuel facilities. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the 
Carson City Charter; The Airport Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of 
Nevada 1989) 
 No [property with access] Permittee with an Access Privilege Permit shall be allowed to 
carry on any of the aeronautical uses specified in the Carson City Airport Rules and Regulations 
contained in Title 19, Chapter 19.02 of this code, [regarding sale of fuel, parts, service or 
maintenance of aircraft. Private fuel facilities shall be allowed to permittees for their own private 

236



consumption as long as said facilities are installed and maintained in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state, city laws, ordinances and codes. For all fuel consumed by permittees, they shall pay 
a gallonage fee to the Authority at the same rates the fixed base operators pay to the Authority for 
fuel sold by their facilities.] including but not limited to, sale of fuel, parts, service or 
maintenance for aircraft. 
 
 
SECTION XII: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.110 (Further development) is hereby 
amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.110 – Further development. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport 
Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989) 
 The Authority reserves the right to further develop or improve the landing areas of the 
[airport] Airport as it sees fit, regardless of the desires and views of the [permittee] Permittee, 
without interference or hindrance. 
 
 
SECTION XIII: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.120 (Repair of airport) is hereby 
amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.120 – Repair of airport. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport 
Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989) 
 The Authority reserves the right to maintain and repair the [airport] Airport as it feels best 
suited for the public. 
 
 
SECTION XIV: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.130 (Permits subordinate to other 
agreements) is hereby amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as 
follows: 
 
19.03.130 – Permits subordinate to other agreements. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City 
Charter; The Airport Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989) 
 Access Privilege Permits shall be subordinate to the provisions of any agreement between 
the Authority and the United States, relative to the development, operation or maintenance of the 
[Carson City] Airport. 
 
 

237



SECTION XV: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.140 (Compliance with federal aviation 
regulations) is hereby amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as 
follows: 
 
19.03.140 – Compliance with federal aviation regulations. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson 
City Charter; The Airport Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 
1989) 
 The [permittee] Permittee shall comply with Part 77 of the Federal Aviation Regulations 
regarding structure and height of facilities incident to the [permit.] Access Privilege Permit. 
 
 
SECTION XVI: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.150 (Right to flight) is hereby amended 
(bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.150 – Right to flight. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport 
Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989) 
 The Authority reserves the right of its successors and assigns for the use or benefit of the 
public’s right to flight and aircraft passage in the air space above the [permittee’s] Permittee’s 
property. 
 
 
SECTION XVII: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.160 (Hold harmless and 
indemnification) is hereby amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as 
follows: 
 
19.03.160 – Hold harmless and indemnification. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; 
The Airport Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989) 
 Permittee shall indemnify and hold the City and the Authority harmless against any 
damage, loss or liability that may occur due to [permittee’s] Permittee’s negligence to maintain 
the Permittee’s accessway [permits as required.] which is subject to the Access Privilege 
Permit. 
 
 
SECTION XVIII: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.170 (Repair of accessway) is hereby 

238



amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.170 – Repair of accessway. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; The Airport 
Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989) 
 The [permittee] Permittee shall repair or perform maintenance on the accessway [permit] 
utilized by Permittee upon written notice from the Authority to proceed at the [permittee’s] 
Permittee’s sole expense. 
 
 
SECTION XIX: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.180 (Assurances by permittee) is hereby 
amended (bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.180 – Assurances by [permittee.] Permittee. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson City Charter; 
The Airport Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 1989) 
 Every [permit] Access Privilege Permit issued pursuant to this [chapter] Chapter shall 
contain the following assurances by the [permittee:] Permittee:  
 1.  The [permittee] Permittee for himself, his heirs, personal representatives, successors in 
interest, and assigns, as a part of the consideration hereof, does covenant and agree (in the case of 
lease add "as a covenant running with the land") that in the event facilities are constructed, 
maintained or otherwise operated on the said property described in the [permit] Access Privilege 
Permit for a purpose for which a Department of Transportation program or activity is extended or 
for another purpose involving the provision of similar services or benefits, the [permittee] 
Permittee shall maintain and operate such facilities and services in compliance with all other 
requirements imposed pursuant to Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Department of 
Transportation, Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, Nondiscrimination in Federally-
Assisted Programs of the Department of Transportation—Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1964, and as said regulations may be amended.  
 2.  The [permittees,] Permittee, for himself, his personal representatives, successors in 
interest, and assigns, as a part of the consideration hereof, does covenant and agree (in the case of 
leases add "as a covenant running with the land") that: (1) no person on the grounds of race, color 
or national origin shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or be otherwise 
subjected to discrimination in the use of said facilities, (2) that in the construction of any 
improvements on, over, or under such land and the furnishing of services thereon, no person on 
the grounds of race, color, or national origin shall be excluded from participation in, denied the 
benefits of, or otherwise be subject to discrimination, (3) that the [permittee] Permittee shall use 
the premises in compliance with all other requirements imposed by or pursuant to Title 49, Code 
of Federal Regulations, Department of Transportation, Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, 
Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted Programs of the Department of Transportation—
Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and as said regulations may be amended.  
 3.  That in the event of breach of any of the above nondiscrimination covenants, the 
Authority shall have the right to terminate the [permit] Access Privilege Permit and hold the same 
as if said [permit] Access Privilege Permit had never been made or issued. This provision does 

239



not become effective until the procedures of 49 CFR Part 21 are followed and completed including 
expiration of appeal rights.  
 4.  Permittee shall furnish its accommodations and/or services on a fair, equal and not 
unjustly discriminatory basis to all users thereof and it shall charge fair, reasonable and not unjustly 
discriminatory prices for each unit or service; provided, that the [permittee] Permittee may be 
allowed to make reasonable and nondiscriminatory discounts, rebates or other similar type of price 
reductions to volume purchasers.  
 5.  Non-compliance with [Provision] Subsection 4 above shall constitute a material breach 
thereof and in the event of such noncompliance the [City] Authority shall have the right to 
terminate the [permit] Access Privilege Permit without liability therefore or at the election of the 
Authority or the United States either or both said governments shall have the right to judicially 
enforce provisions.  
 6.  Permittee agrees that it shall insert the above given provisions in any [permit] Access 
Privilege Permit by which [permittee] Permittee grants a right or privilege to any person, firm, 
or corporation to render accommodations and/or services to the public on the premises subject to 
the [permit.] Access Privilege Permit.  
 7.  The [permittee] Permittee assures that it will undertake an affirmative action program 
as required by 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to [insure] ensure that no person shall on the grounds 
of race, creed, color, national origin, or sex be excluded from participating in any employment 
activities covered in 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E. The [permittee] Permittee assures that no person 
shall be excluded on these grounds from participating in or receiving the services or benefits of 
any program or activity covered by this subpart. The [permittee] Permittee assures that it will 
require that its covered suborganizations provide assurance to the [permittee] Permittee that they 
similarly will undertake affirmative action programs and that they will require assurances from 
their suborganizations, as required by 14 CFR 152, Subpart E, to the same effort.  
 8.  The [permittee] Permittee by accepting [a permit] an Access Privilege Permit agrees 
for itself, its successors and assigns that it will not make use of the premises in any manner which 
might interfere with the landing and taking off of the aircraft from [Carson City] the Airport or 
otherwise constitute a hazard. In the event the aforesaid covenant is breached, the City [reserves] 
and the Authority reserve the right to enter upon the premises and cause the abatement of such 
interference at the expense of the [permittee] Permittee.  
 9.  The [permittee] Permittee by accepting [a permit] an Access Privilege Permit agrees 
for itself, its successors and assigns that it will not make use of the premises in any manner which 
might interfere with the landing and taking off of the aircraft from [Carson City] the Airport or 
otherwise constitute a hazard. In the event the aforesaid covenant is breached, the City [reserves] 
and the Authority reserve the right to enter upon the premises and cause the abatement of such 
interference at the expense of the [permittee] Permittee. 
 
 
SECTION XX: 
 
 That Title 19 (AIRPORT RULES AND REGULATIONS), Chapter 19.03 (THROUGH-
THE-FENCE AIRCRAFT OPERATION), Section 19.03.190 (Severability) is hereby amended 
(bold, underlined text is added, [stricken] text is deleted) as follows: 
 
19.03.190 – [Severability.] Controlling authority; severability. (Art. 2, § 2.090 of the Carson 

240



City Charter; The Airport Authority Act for Carson City, Chapter 844 Statutes of Nevada 
1989) 
 1.  The regulations set forth in this Chapter 19.03 shall be the controlling and exclusive 
regulations of all prospective Access Privilege Permits applied for and granted following the 
adoption of these regulations for through-the-fence access to the Airport and hereby 
supersedes and replaces all prior regulations adopted by the City or Authority controlling 
such through-the-fence access rights, including any regulations, “Through-The-Fence 
Regulations” or the “Through-The-Fence Aircraft Operation Permit Policy dated April 8, 
1982” referenced in certain land property records relating to the John D Winter’s Trust for 
property in proximity to the Airport. 
 2.  Nothing in this [chapter] Chapter shall impair the rights of existing [permittees] 
Permittees who have written contracts or Access Privilege Permits or equivalent with the [City.] 
City or Authority. However, to the extent existing [permittees] Permittees wish to obtain the 
benefits of this [chapter,] Chapter, they must in writing agree to accept all the provisions [hereof.] 
hereof and confirm adoption hereto.  
 3.  In case any one [(1)] or more of the sections, subsections, clauses, or provisions of this 
[chapter] Chapter or the application thereof to any circumstances, shall for any reason be held to 
be unconstitutional or invalid, such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not affect any other 
sections or provisions of this [chapter.] Chapter.  
 
 
SECTION XXI: 
 
 That no other provisions of the Carson City Municipal Code are affected by this ordinance. 
 
 
 PROPOSED on   ______________, 2024.  

 PROPOSED by Supervisor  ______________.  

 PASSED on    ______________, 2024.  

 
 VOTE:  AYES:  SUPERVISORS:  ________________________  
         

________________________  
         

________________________  
         

________________________  
         

________________________  
    

NAYS:  SUPERVISORS:  ________________________  
         

________________________  
                

________________________  

241



 
 
January 15, 2024 

 
Carson City Airport Manager’s Report Prepared by Corey Jenkins 

 
Managers’ Report 
 
• Pavement Maintenance 

o Airport Operations and Maintenance are progressing with the next phase of 
pavement maintenance. 

o We have an agreement with Wood Rodgers to prepare the specifications and 
bidding documents for the upcoming phases of pavement maintenance, which will 
likely be carried out over the next two years. 

• Airport Emergency Planning Meeting 
o The Airport hosted an Emergency Planning Workshop and Tabletop Exercise, 

engaging all private and public groups that may be involved in a large-scale 
emergency response at the airport. 

o Jon Bakkedahl, the Emergency Manager with Carson City, facilitated the meeting 
extremely well, providing valuable insights for all parties involved. 

o We will be updating our Emergency Plan to include a muster area, along with a 
few other enhancements. 

• Neighborhood Development East of the Airport 
o Last month, during a Master Project Review meeting with the city, I learned about 

a new neighborhood being developed east of the airport. 
o The neighborhood is situated uphill from the airport and may pose a potential 

issue due to its proximity to protected airspace. 
o The developer has agreed to execute an Avigation Easement to address any 

concerns. 
• FAA ACIP Acceptance 

o We have received a letter from the FAA confirming acceptance of our Airport 
Capital Improvement Plan (ACIP). 

o We are well-positioned to receive funding for three AIP projects: 
 RSA Drainage Improvements 
 Main Apron Rehabilitation 
 Master Plan Forecasting Update, in support of a runway extension 

• Comprehensive CPI Audit 
o A comprehensive CPI audit was completed for all ground leases that had an 

increase this year, resulting in a 6% CPI adjustment. 
o Some findings from the audit: 

 Most leases saw a slight reduction in rates due to retroactive federal 
adjustments to CPI over time. 

 A few leases had increased rates, likely due to previous errors. 
 None of the changes were significant in nature. 
 I will continue conducting this audit annually to capture any retroactive 

CPI adjustments from the federal government. 



Fuel Flowage 
 

Total 
  Self-Serve Full-Service Total Combined % Change 

Month 100LL Jet A 100LL Jet A Gallons 
Fuel Flowage 

Fee 
Annual 
Change 

January-24 5932 1389 2655 10751 20727  $    1,036.36  97% 
February-24 6355 637 1343 13511 21847  $    1,092.34  12% 

March-24 7206 353 2737 13374.9 23670  $    1,183.51  52% 
April-24 9776 334 3489 8998 22598  $    1,129.89  5% 
May-24 10401 1540 4241 28959 45141  $    2,257.05  57% 
June-24 10481 1471 4720 12459 29132  $    1,456.59  9% 
July-24 11100 739 5188 21112 38139  $    1,906.95  13% 

August-24 10902 1359 4781 25886 42929  $    2,146.44  21% 
September-24 7290 2432 4306 17146 31175  $    1,558.73  -17% 

October-24 9702 4232 4435 18067 36436  $    1,821.82  46% 
November-24 5934 241 2963 14209 23347  $    1,167.37  -5% 
December-24 7734 834 3105 15591 27264  $    1,363.21  -8% 

Total 102816 15562 43964 200064 362406  $  18,120.28  18% 
 
Aircraft Operations 
 

2024 ADS-B Airport Operations 

Month Arrivals Departures 
Total 

Operations 
Annual 
Change 

January-24 1457 1483 2940 32% 
February-24 1295 1265 2560 -27% 

March-24 1238 1242 2480 0% 
April-24 4312 4312 8624 68% 
May-24 4251 4261 8512 62% 
June-24 2493 2481 4974 -18% 
July-24 2320 2533 4853 -25% 

August-24 1952 2237 4189 -20% 
September-24 1457 1674 3131 -53% 

October-24 1574 1842 3416 -55% 
November-24 1431 1481 2912 -55% 
December-24 1589 1598 3187 -45% 

Total 25369 26409 51778 -18% 
 







Carson City Airport Authority-2
Balance Sheet Comparison

As of December 31, 2024

Accrual Basis  Sunday, January 12, 2025 03:54 PM GMT-08:00   1/2

TOTAL

AS OF DEC 31, 2024 AS OF DEC 31, 2023 (PY) CHANGE

ASSETS

Current Assets

Bank Accounts

1075 LGIP-Deferred 432,333.98 410,048.91 22,285.07

1077 LGIP- General Fund 1,657,045.83 1,572,204.10 84,841.73

3099 Gen. Fund #1162 311,481.24 260,403.84 51,077.40

3199 Petty Cash -1,770.00 100.00 -1,870.00

Total Bank Accounts $2,399,091.05 $2,242,756.85 $156,334.20

Accounts Receivable

2000 Accounts Receivable - Operating 374,458.34 182,787.55 191,670.79

Total Accounts Receivable $374,458.34 $182,787.55 $191,670.79

Other Current Assets

1499 Undeposited Funds 8,243.89 27,487.79 -19,243.90

2001 AR offset -19,337.00 -19,337.00 0.00

2010 Due From Other Government 389,578.87 389,578.87 0.00

2010.1 Audit Adjustment to AR -332,044.00 -332,044.00 0.00

2011 Accrued Interest Receivable 6,252.37 6,252.37 0.00

2020 Grants Receivable-CY 0.00 0.00 0.00

2100 Prepaid Expenses 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00

CTE Reimbursement Funds -22,877.50 10,640.00 -33,517.50

Grumman HU-16C Lien 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Other Current Assets $30,816.63 $83,578.03 $ -52,761.40

Total Current Assets $2,804,366.02 $2,509,122.43 $295,243.59

Fixed Assets

2120 land 146,542.03 146,542.03 0.00

2125 Machinery & Equipment 750,566.73 750,566.73 0.00

2126 Fencing 911,661.46 911,661.46 0.00

2130 Vehicle 807,877.35 807,877.35 0.00

2198 Accumulated Depreciation -466,021.36 -466,021.36 0.00

2201 Tractor 153,046.00 153,046.00 0.00

Total Fixed Assets $2,303,672.21 $2,303,672.21 $0.00

Other Assets

2300 Provided for LT Obligations 271,786.33 271,786.33 0.00

2305 NPV of Airport Leases 7,242,012.00 7,242,012.00 0.00

2810 Pension Requirement 415,612.04 415,612.04 0.00

Total Other Assets $7,929,410.37 $7,929,410.37 $0.00

TOTAL ASSETS $13,037,448.60 $12,742,205.01 $295,243.59



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Balance Sheet Comparison

As of December 31, 2024

Accrual Basis  Sunday, January 12, 2025 03:54 PM GMT-08:00   2/2

TOTAL

AS OF DEC 31, 2024 AS OF DEC 31, 2023 (PY) CHANGE

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

3000 Accounts Payable 59,600.65 90,619.08 -31,018.43

Total Accounts Payable $59,600.65 $90,619.08 $ -31,018.43

Credit Cards

6321 Home Depot -485.20 1,332.75 -1,817.95

6328 NSB Credit Card  Rick 9053 510.20 244.12 266.08

6329 NSB CC Corey 9061 286.29 469.23 -182.94

Total Credit Cards $311.29 $2,046.10 $ -1,734.81

Other Current Liabilities

2101 Payroll Liability 4,062.54 1,971.54 2,091.00

2102 Accrued Compensated Absences 8,917.28 8,917.28 0.00

2115 Accrued Expenses 21,000.00 21,000.00 0.00

3030 Audit Adj to AP 4,102.00 4,102.00 0.00

3090 Pension Requirement-Liab 360,736.00 360,736.00 0.00

3271 Current Portion of LTD 12,734.00 12,734.00 0.00

Total Other Current Liabilities $411,551.82 $409,460.82 $2,091.00

Total Current Liabilities $471,463.76 $502,126.00 $ -30,662.24

Long-Term Liabilities

3085 Net Pension Liability 447,813.00 447,813.00 0.00

3100 Leases Advances 26,556.00 26,556.00 0.00

3110 Deferred Inflows- Leases 6,872,722.00 6,872,722.00 0.00

3200 Mayes-Lease Transactions 301,509.83 307,749.83 -6,240.00

3250 Gonzalez Deferred Lease 232,855.89 232,855.89 0.00

3260 Goni Deferred Lease 0.00 0.00 0.00

6325 Tractor US Bank -13,243.00 -13,243.00 0.00

Total Long-Term Liabilities $7,868,213.72 $7,874,453.72 $ -6,240.00

Total Liabilities $8,339,677.48 $8,376,579.72 $ -36,902.24

Equity

4200 Fund Balance 2,548,313.52 2,548,313.52 0.00

4999 Retained Earnings 1,973,373.89 1,711,686.00 261,687.89

4999.1 GWFS to Fund FS adjustments -38,223.00 -38,223.00 0.00

Net Income 214,306.71 143,848.77 70,457.94

Total Equity $4,697,771.12 $4,365,625.29 $332,145.83

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $13,037,448.60 $12,742,205.01 $295,243.59



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Profit and Loss Comparison

July - December, 2024

Accrual Basis  Sunday, January 12, 2025 03:55 PM GMT-08:00   1/3

TOTAL

JUL - DEC, 2024 JUL - DEC, 2023 (PY) CHANGE

Income

5010 Real/Personal Property Tax

5010.1 Aircraft 95,691.54 95,691.54 0.00

5010.2 Building 78,293.04 78,293.04 0.00

Total 5010 Real/Personal Property Tax 173,984.58 173,984.58 0.00

5050 AIRPORT LEASES

5050H Hanger Lease 36,000.00 36,000.00 0.00

5051 Land Leases 130,194.96 124,971.20 5,223.76

5052 Tower Leases 36,532.74 36,468.68 64.06

5053 Lease-Mayes 3,120.00 3,120.00 0.00

Total 5050 AIRPORT LEASES 205,847.70 200,559.88 5,287.82

5150 Tie Down Fees 4,553.00 5,018.00 -465.00

5151 Gate Card Fees 160.00 1,305.00 -1,145.00

5155 Parking Fees 653.63 324.83 328.80

5200 Committed-Fuel Flowage Fees 12,133.46 8,640.63 3,492.83

5201 Committed-Jet Fuel Tax 1,378.64 1,061.88 316.76

5300 Class II FBO Fees 2,700.00 4,800.00 -2,100.00

5404 Rock Materials Sales 48,915.85 36,246.24 12,669.61

5500 Interest Income 53,025.39 40,029.21 12,996.18

5999 Uncategorized Income 803.10 803.10

Total Income $504,155.35 $471,970.25 $32,185.10

GROSS PROFIT $504,155.35 $471,970.25 $32,185.10

Expenses

6019 Charitable Contribution 1,070.00 1,365.75 -295.75

6165 Job Supplies 48.14 -48.14

6169 Taxes & Licenses 280.00 -280.00

6300 Operating Expenses

6130 Dues 370.00 1,210.00 -840.00

6135 Memberships 95.00 -95.00

6137 Conferences 855.00 855.00

6190 Office Expence-PC Software 488.59 817.55 -328.96

6200 Office Expenses -PC Hardware 5.25 88.20 -82.95

6211 Meals and Entertainment 890.08 367.39 522.69

6218 Marketing and Website 1,152.15 1,094.10 58.05

6369 Travel 1,229.76 1,229.76

Total 6300 Operating Expenses 4,990.83 3,672.24 1,318.59

6301 Utilities

6238 Stormwater Discharge Permit 4.06 -4.06

6302 Phone &  Internet 3,410.37 2,042.06 1,368.31



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Profit and Loss Comparison

July - December, 2024

Accrual Basis  Sunday, January 12, 2025 03:55 PM GMT-08:00   2/3

TOTAL

JUL - DEC, 2024 JUL - DEC, 2023 (PY) CHANGE

6303 Electric 6,953.64 9,473.10 -2,519.46

6304 Gas 96.73 254.89 -158.16

6305 Water 1,107.83 1,300.63 -192.80

6306 Carson City Landfill 669.24 633.10 36.14

Total 6301 Utilities 12,237.81 13,707.84 -1,470.03

6308 Office Expenses and Supplies 845.92 621.71 224.21

6309 Legal 46,502.50 22,672.50 23,830.00

6310 Security 3,200.93 1,975.94 1,224.99

6311 CCAA printing 428.08 -428.08

6312 Data Storage 245.90 272.08 -26.18

6313 Insurance 1,364.00 4,653.00 -3,289.00

6314 Auditing 27,876.25 27,876.25

6314A Accounting/Bullis 14,070.00 10,026.00 4,044.00

6314B Accounting/Tmcdbooks 6,900.00 -6,900.00

6315 Contract Services/Appraisals 7,000.00 7,000.00

6316 Bank Charges/Square Chgs 484.84 215.41 269.43

6317 Airport Equipment Maintenance 12,007.76 4,698.63 7,309.13

6317.5 AWOS III Service Charges 5,936.00 6,620.00 -684.00

6318 Facility Maintenance 7,946.67 3,810.08 4,136.59

6319 Airfield Maintenance 20,000.74 19,359.32 641.42

6319.5 Gate Maintenance 5,011.29 -5,011.29

6350 Labor Expense

6351 Salaries 141,968.15 91,793.08 50,175.07

6352 Healthcare 32,804.40 20,192.19 12,612.21

6353 PERS Retirement Contribution 54,108.44 27,344.15 26,764.29

6354 Nevada Payroll 735.00 627.25 107.75

6355 Workers Compensation 4,061.87 878.27 3,183.60

6363 Voya/Deferred Comp 630.00 630.00

6476 Uniforms 484.82 612.74 -127.92

Total 6350 Labor Expense 234,792.68 141,447.68 93,345.00

6600 Bad Debt Transaction 900.00 -900.00

6999 Uncategorized Expense -0.10 -0.10

9100 Interest Expense 527.98 -527.98

QuickBooks Payments Fees 257.91 257.91

Total Expenses $400,830.64 $249,213.67 $151,616.97

NET OPERATING INCOME $103,324.71 $222,756.58 $ -119,431.87

Other Income

5001 NDOT Grant Reimbursement 19,722.00 -19,722.00

7000 Open House

7001.1 Open House Income FYE 2024 7,700.00 2,500.00 5,200.00



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Profit and Loss Comparison

July - December, 2024

Accrual Basis  Sunday, January 12, 2025 03:55 PM GMT-08:00   3/3

TOTAL

JUL - DEC, 
2024

JUL - DEC, 2023 
(PY)

CHANGE

7001.2 Open House Expense FYE 2024 -7,191.21 -1,118.26 -6,072.95

Total 7000 Open House 508.79 1,381.74 -872.95

8000 Discounts 9.94 9.94

FAA AIP Grant Revenue

6035 AIP #36  Construct SRE Building

6035.2 6035 AIP #36  Construct SRE Building Expense -12,470.00 12,470.00

Total 6035 AIP #36  Construct SRE Building -12,470.00 12,470.00

6036 AIP #37  Acquire Snow Removal Equipment 196,454.26 180.00 196,274.26

6036.2 AIP #37 Acquire Snow Removal Equipment Expense -7,733.00 -180.00 -7,553.00

Total 6036 AIP #37  Acquire Snow Removal Equipment 188,721.26 0.00 188,721.26

6041 AIP #42 Approach Lighting System Phase 2 PAPI and MALSF

6041.1 AIP #42 Approach Lighting System Phase 2 PAPI and MALSF Rev 61,416.62 -61,416.62

6041.2 AIP #42 Approach Lighting System Phase 2 PAPI and MALSF Expense 
(deleted)

-60,520.00 60,520.00

Total 6041 AIP #42 Approach Lighting System Phase 2 PAPI and MALSF 896.62 -896.62

6042 AIP #43 Approach Lighting System Phase 3 PAPI and MALSF

6042.1 AIP #43 Approach Lighting System Phase 3 PAPI and MALSF Revenue 193,344.40 44,712.19 148,632.21

6042.2 AIP #43 Approach Lighting System Phase 3 PAPI and MALSF Expense -217,687.02 -59,383.50 -158,303.52

Total 6042 AIP #43 Approach Lighting System Phase 3 PAPI and MALSF -24,342.62 -14,671.31 -9,671.31

6044 AIP #44 SRE Construct Auxiliary Building

6044.1 6044 AIP #44 SRE Construct Auxiliary Building Revenue 2,807.43 2,927.81 -120.38

6044.2 AIP #44 SRE Construct Auxiliary Building Expense -5,705.20 -48,079.50 42,374.30

Total 6044 AIP #44 SRE Construct Auxiliary Building -2,897.77 -45,151.69 42,253.92

Total FAA AIP Grant Revenue 161,480.87 -71,396.38 232,877.25

Total Other Income $161,999.60 $ -50,292.64 $212,292.24

Other Expenses

6020 FAA Engineering and Construction 19,780.20 19,780.20

CCAA Funded Capital Projects

6400 Capital Project

6418 FOD Boss Purchase 6,949.00 -6,949.00

Total 6400 Capital Project 6,949.00 -6,949.00

6413 Taxiway Sign Panels 1,217.68 -1,217.68

6414 Terminal Building Architectural Renderings 31,237.40 12,892.25 18,345.15

6416 New Terminal Door Improvements with Access Control 7,556.24 -7,556.24

Total CCAA Funded Capital Projects 31,237.40 28,615.17 2,622.23

Total Other Expenses $51,017.60 $28,615.17 $22,402.43

NET OTHER INCOME $110,982.00 $ -78,907.81 $189,889.81

NET INCOME $214,306.71 $143,848.77 $70,457.94


	Agenda
	Draft Minutes
	Engineer's Report
	H-1 Tie-Down License Agreement
	H-2 TTF Access Permit
	Manager's Report
	Treasurer's Report



